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Report from the CFO

Grant allocations for the 
current year amounted to 
R1.506 billion and a total 
of R2.073 billion was paid 
to beneficiaries across all 
sectors.

The year under review was characterised by slow economic 
growth, recession and credit rating downgrades which 
affected the household spending and disposable income of 
the lotto participants. South Africa, however, saw improved 
economic conditions towards the end of the year because 
of improved growth from primary economic sectors and 
improved investor and business confidence following the 
developments in the country’s landscape. Revenue from 
share of ticket sales increased by 1.46% to R1.392 billion. 
The National Lottery Operator grossed R5.315 billion 
(excluding VAT) from ticket sales despite facing continuing 
challenges from a weakening economy, increased 
competition from bookmakers and illegal lottery operators. 

Grant allocations for the current year amounted to R1.506 
billion and a total of R2.073 billion was paid to beneficiaries 
across all sectors. The liability reached at an all-time low of 
R580 million through efforts of applying the Grant Finance 
Management Policy and fast tracking of payments.

King IV report, (2016) maintains that the primary reason for 
the existence of a business enterprise is to create value. 
The NLC is experiencing growing demand by applicants for 
grants with a revenue that cannot service all the applicants. 
There is thus a need to create long-term shareholder 
value by embracing the opportunities and managing the 
risks that result from the NLC’s economic and social 
responsibilities. The NLC has implemented cost cutting 
measures in line with Treasury Regulations and continues 
to explore alternative sources of revenue within the confines 
of the Lotteries Act in order to maximise revenue for good 
causes. Furthermore, the Finance division has undertaken 
to purchase buildings across the provinces which will be 
converted into office space in order to yield value for the 
organisation and create a financially viable option to that of 
leasing.

The NLC continues to monitor its investments in an effort 
to maximise revenue that is destined for good causes. The 
investment strategy was reviewed in order to maximise 
the return on investment and ensure liquidity and capital 
preservation of amounts invested. The NLC achieved a 
return on investment of 8.40% surpassing the 8% target as 
indicated in the APP.

The organisation seeks to always maintain strategic reserves 
of R1.5 billion as a contingency fund to fund operational 
expenditure of the NLC and grant allocations for good 
causes which are distributed through the NLDTF. The 
reserves for the current financial year amounted to  
R1.428 billion and the Finance division continues to monitor 
the reserves closely to determine whether it addresses the 
risks which are faced by the NLC.

The National Lotteries Participants Trust (NLPT) was 
established by the Lottery Operator [herein Ithuba Holdings 
RF (Pty) Ltd in terms of the licence agreement between 
the dti, NLC and the Lottery Operator. It was established 
to achieve the regulatory objective of protection of lottery 
participants and prize monies. For the first time since 
inception of the NLC, the Auditor-General of South Africa 
required the NLC to consolidate the NLPT in the financial 
statements of the NLC. It goes without saying that there are 
fundamental differences in the interpretation of the relevant 
accounting standards on the consolidation of the NLPT. 
Subsequent to numerous engagements during the final 
stages of the audit and notwithstanding the divergent views, 
the NLC implemented the recommendation by the Auditor-
General to consolidate. The Auditor-General did not audit 
the consolidated financial statements due to the different 
audit cycles of the NLC and NLPT and as a result a modified 
audit opinion was issued on the consolidated financial 
statements of the NLC. Clean audit opinions were issues 
and maintained for the separate annual financial statements 
of NLC and NLDTF for three (3) years in succession. An 
unqualified audit opinion was issued for the NLPT which 
has been included in Part F of this report. The NLPT has 
achieved unqualified audit opinions since inception.

Supply Chain Management controls and processes continue 
to be in place and strengthened. The NLC and NLDTF did 
no incur irregular, fruitless and wasteful expenditure in the 
current financial year.

I would like to take this opportunity to thank the Board, 
Board Committees, the Commissioner and Executive 
Management for their continued leadership and support, 
together with dedicate staff of the NLC, in particular the 
finance team for their hard work.
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The National Lotteries Commission Accounting Authority presents its tenth annual report, which is supplementary to the audited 
annual financial statements of the National Lotteries Commission (NLC) and the National Lottery Distribution Trust Fund (NLDTF) 
for the year ended 31 March 2018.

1.  NATURE OF OPERATIONS

The NLC is a regulator of the National Lottery. Ithuba (Pty) Ltd is a private company that currently operates the National 
Lottery under a licence from the government which commenced on 1 June 2015. The Operator pays a percentage of the 
revenue from ticket sales to the NLDTF in terms of the Licence agreement. These proceeds are destined for good causes 
as stipulated in the Lotteries Act No 57 of 1997 (Lotteries Act) as amended and allocated to deserving applicants by 
Distributing Agencies appointed by the Minister of Trade and Industry. The NLC manages the NLDTF and NLDTF transfers 
the necessary running costs to the NLC. The NLC withdraws the necessary funds required from the NLDTF, based on the 
overall annual budget approved by the Minister of Trade and Industry.

2.  STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

To the best of our knowledge and belief, we confirm the following:

• All information and amounts disclosed in the annual report is consistent with the annual financial statements audited 
by the Auditor-General. The annual financial statements are complete, accurate and free from any omissions. 
The annual report has been prepared in accordance with the guidelines on the annual report as issued by National 
Treasury.

• The annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the South African Standards of Generally 
Recognised Accounting Practice applicable to the NLC.

• The accounting authority is responsible for the preparation of the annual financial statements and for the judgements 
made in the financial statements. The accounting authority is responsible for establishing and implementing a system 
of internal control that has been designed to provide reasonable assurance to the integrity and reliability of the 
performance information, the human capital information and the annual financial statements. The Auditor-General is 
engaged to express an independent opinion on the annual financial statements. In our opinion, the annual financial 
statements fairly reflect the financial affairs of the NLC and NLDTF for the financial year ended 31 March 2018.

3.  OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW

The NLC’s objectives are prescribed in the Lotteries Act. The main objectives of the NLC are to regulate all lotteries and 
sports pools with integrity; to ensure the protection of all participants; and to distribute funds equitably and expeditiously. 
It is the NLC’s continuous aim to meet or exceed these objectives. The Chairperson’s report covers all accomplishments in 
greater detail. Functions directly related to the Lotteries Act, and the business plans are predominantly on track.

Salient comparative information

Accounting Authority’s Report for the National 
Lotteries Commission
for the period ended 31 March 2018

Revenue from share 
of ticket sales increased 

by 1.46% to R1.392 billion. 
The lottery operator grossed 
R6.059 billion (including VAT) 

from ticket sales  
(2017: 6.002 billion). The 

operator contributed 26.19% 
(2017: 26.05%) to the 

NLDTF.
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Accounting Authority Report for the National 
Lotteries Commission (continued)
for the period ended 31 March 2018

NLC Operating Costs
R431 million up 24% 

as a result of stakeholder 
engagements tha were 

undertaken during the year and 
also the investment in disaster 

recovery.
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The liability decreased by 55% 
from the previous financial year 

to an all time low balance of 
R580 million 
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The weighted average return 
on investments exceeded the 

APP targets of 8% and the 
actual return is 8.40% up 0.25% 

from the prior year

Cash Disbursed
R2.073. billion up 5% as NLC 

continues to fast track payments 
to beneficiaries

4. MATERIALITY FRAMEWORK IN TERMS OF TREASURY REGULATION 28.1.5

For purposes of ‘material’ (sections 50(1), 55(2) and 66(1) of the Public Finance Management Act) and ‘significant’ 
(section 54(2) of the Public Finance Management Act), the Accounting Authority developed and agreed on a framework 
of acceptable levels of materiality and significance. Overall materiality for the period under review was agreed as 1% of 
audited total assets and 0.05% of audited total revenue.

5.  APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements set out on pages 126 to 161 for the NLC and pages 166 to 187 for the NLDTF were approved by 
the Accounting Authority on 30 May 2018 and are signed on their behalf.

Prof N A Nevhutanda
Chairperson of the Board

26 July 2018
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Report of the Auditor-General to Parliament  
on the National Lotteries Commission
Report of the auditor-general to Parliament on National Lotteries Commission Report on the audit of the 
consolidated and separate financial statements
QUALIFIED OPINION 

1.  I have audited the consolidated and separate financial statements of the National Lotteries Commission and its subsidiaries 
(the group) set out on pages 126 to 161 which comprise the consolidated and separate statement of financial position as 
at 31 March 2018, the consolidated and separate statement of financial performance, statement of changes in net assets, 
statement of cash flows and statement of comparison of budget and actual amounts for the year then ended, as well as the 
notes to the consolidated and separate financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

2.  In my opinion, except for the effects of the matter described in the basis for qualified opinion section of my report, the 
consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of National 
Lotteries Commission as at 31 March 2018 and its consolidated financial performance and consolidated cash flows for 
the year then ended, in accordance with the South African Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting Practice (SA 
Standards of GRAP) and the requirements of the Public Finance Management Act of South Africa, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999) 
(PFMA). 

3.  In my opinion, the separate financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the separate financial position of 
National Lotteries Commission as at 31 March 2018 and its separate financial performance and separate cash flows for the 
year then ended, in accordance with the SA Standards of GRAP and the requirements of the PFMA.

BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION

Consolidated financial statements 

4.  The National Lotteries Commission has not consolidated its subsidiary the National Lotteries Participants Trust that had 
been formulated for the purpose of the protection of the participant’s prize monies and sums for distribution. Under the 
SA Standards of GRAP 6, the National Lotteries Commission should have consolidated this subsidiary. Had the subsidiary 
National Lotteries Participants Trust been consolidated, many elements in the accompanying consolidated financial 
statements would have materially changed. The effects on the consolidated financial statements of the failure to consolidate 
have not been determined for 31 March 2018 and corresponding figures. 

Context for the opinion 

5.  I conducted my audit in accordance with the International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). My responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the auditor-general’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated and separate 
financial statements section of this auditor’s report.

6.  I am independent of the group in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of ethics 
for professional accountants (IESBA code) and the ethical requirements that are relevant to my audit in South Africa. I have 
fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA code. 

7. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my qualified opinion.

Responsibilities of the accounting authority for the financial statements 

8.  The board, which constitutes the accounting authority is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the 
consolidated and separate financial statements in accordance with the SA Standards of GRAP and the requirements of 
the PFMA, and for such internal control as the accounting authority determines is necessary to enable the preparation of 
consolidated and separate financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

9. In preparing the consolidated and separate financial statements, the accounting authority is responsible for assessing the 
National Lotteries Commission’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going 
concern and using the going-concern basis of accounting unless the accounting authority either intends to liquidate the 
group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor-general’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements 

10.  My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated and separate financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes my 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with the ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions 
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated and separate financial statements. 

11.  A further description of my responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements is included in 
the annexure to this auditor’s report. 
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Report on the audit of the annual performance report 
Introduction and scope 

12.  In accordance with the Public Audit Act of South Africa, 2004 (Act No. 25 of 2004) (PAA) and the general notice issued 
in terms thereof, I have a responsibility to report material findings on the reported performance information against 
predetermined objectives for selected objectives presented in the annual performance report. I performed procedures to 
identify findings but not to gather evidence to express assurance.

13.  My procedures address the reported performance information, which must be based on the approved performance 
planning documents of the group. I have not evaluated the completeness and appropriateness of the performance indicators 
included in the planning documents. My procedures also did not extend to any disclosures or assertions relating to 
planned performance strategies and information in respect of future periods that may be included as part of the reported 
performance information. Accordingly, my findings do not extend to these matters. 

14.   I evaluated the usefulness and reliability of the reported performance information in accordance with the criteria developed 
from the performance management and reporting framework, as defined in the general notice, for the following selected 
objectives presented in the annual performance report of the group for the year ended 31 March 2018: 

Objectives

Pages in the annual

performance report

Objective 2: To ensure financial sustainability, control and discipline in line with 
applicable legislation and policy prescripts 42 – 43
Objective 3: To implement relevant initiatives geared towards ensuring compliance 
with the Lotteries Act 41 – 43
Objective 4: To ensure fair and equitable grant allocations 44 – 45

15.  I performed procedures to determine whether the reported performance information was properly presented and whether 
performance was consistent with the approved performance planning documents. I performed further procedures to 
determine whether the indicators and related targets were measurable and relevant, and assessed the reliability of the 
reported performance information to determine whether it was valid, accurate and complete.

16.  I did not raise any material findings on the usefulness and reliability of the reported performance information for the following 
objectives:

• Objective 2: To ensure financial sustainability, control and discipline in line with applicable legislation and policy prescripts

• Objective 3: To implement relevant initiatives geared towards ensuring compliance with the Lotteries Act

• Objective 4: To ensure fair and equitable grant allocations

OTHER MATTER 

17.  I draw attention to the matter below.

Achievement of planned targets 
18.  Refer to the annual performance report on pages 40 to 45 for information on the achievement of planned targets for the year 

and explanations provided for the over achievement of a number of targets.

Report on the audit of compliance with legislation
INTRODUCTION AND SCOPE 

19.  In accordance with the PAA and the general notice issued in terms thereof, I have a responsibility to report material findings 
on the compliance of the group with specific matters in key legislation. I performed procedures to identify findings but not to 
gather evidence to express assurance. 

20.  I did not identify any instances of material non-compliance with selected specific requirements of applicable legislation, as 
set out in the general notice issued in terms of the PAA. 

OTHER INFORMATION 

21.  The accounting authority is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the 
annual report. The other information does not include the consolidated and separate financial statements, the auditor’s report and 
those selected objectives presented in the annual performance report that have been specifically reported in this auditor’s report. 

22.  My opinion on the consolidated and separate financial statements and findings on the reported performance information 
and compliance with legislation do not cover the other information and I do not express an audit opinion or any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon. 
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Report of the Auditor-General to Parliament  
on the National Lotteries Commission (continued)

23.  In connection with my audit, my responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other 
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated and separate financial statements and the selected objectives 
presented in the annual performance report, or my knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. 

24.  As a result of the qualified opinion expressed on the financial statements, I do not conclude on material misstatements 
of the other information relating to the financial statements. If, based on the work I have performed relating to the audit 
of performance information and compliance with legislation, I conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, I am required to report that fact. 

25. I have no matters to report in this regard. 

Internal control deficiencies 
26.  I considered internal control relevant to my audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements, reported 

performance information and compliance with applicable legislation; however, my objective was not to express any form of 
assurance on it. The matter reported below is limited to the significant internal control deficiencies that resulted in the basis 
for the qualified opinion and the findings on compliance with legislation included in this report. 

LEADERSHIP 

27.  Leadership did not exercise oversight responsibility regarding financial reporting.

FINANCIAL AND PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT 

28.  Management did not ensure that the applicable reporting framework, SA Standards of GRAP, was correctly applied in terms 
of consolidation of annual financial statements of the group.

AUDITOR-GENERAL SOUTH AFRICA

Auditing to build public confidence

20 August 2018
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1.  As part of an audit in accordance with the ISAs, I exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism 
throughout my audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements, and the procedures performed on reported 
performance information for selected objectives and on the group’s compliance with respect to the selected subject matters.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

2.  In addition to my responsibility for the audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements as described in this 
auditor’s report, I also:

• identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated and separate financial statements whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or 
the override of internal control;

• obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in 
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the group’s internal control;

• evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by the board, which constitutes the accounting authority;

• conclude on the appropriateness of the board, which constitutes the accounting authority’s use of the going-concern 
basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements. I also conclude, based on the audit evidence obtained, 
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the National 
Lotteries Commission’s ability to continue as a going concern. If I conclude that a material uncertainty exists, I am required 
to draw attention in my auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements about the material uncertainty 
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify the opinion on the financial statements. My conclusions are based on the 
information available to me at the date of this auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause a group to 
cease continuing as a going concern;

• evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether 
the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation; and

• obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within the 
group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. I am responsible for the direction, supervision and 
performance of the group audit. I remain solely responsible for my audit opinion

COMMUNICATION WITH THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE 

3.  I communicate with the accounting authority regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that I identify during my audit.

4.  I also confirm to the accounting authority that I have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, 
and communicate all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to have a bearing on my independence 
and, where applicable, related safeguards.

Annexure – Auditor-general’s responsibility for 
the audit
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Group Company

Year ended 
31 March 2018

Restated
Year ended 

31 March 2017
Year ended

31 March 2018

Restated
Year ended

31 March 2017
Note R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

REVENUE 1 787 382 1 704 668 430 681 348 106
Revenue from non-exchange 1 599 648 1 441 100 429 187 347 283

Transfers from NLDTF 1 – – 426 687 344 783
Fund revenue 2 1 597 148 1 438 600 – –
Licence fees 3 2 500 2 500 2 500 2 500

Revenue from exchange transactions 187 734 263 567 1 494 823

Other operating income 4 2 699 48 029 1 078 324
Fair value adjustment – investments 5 6 362 – – –
Surplus on disposal of property, plant and 
equipment 6 34 – 34 –
Investment and interest income 7 178 639 215 538 382 499

EXPENDITURE 1 843 079 (1 576 676) (430 681) (348 106)

Allocation of grants 8 (1 394 060) (1 139 768) – –
Employee costs 9 (252 892) (197 822) (252 892) (197 822)
Goods and services 10 (184 541) (165 495) (166 783) (141 826)
Administrative expenses 11 (580) (65 132) – –
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 12 (11 005) (8 069) (11 005) (8 069)
Deficit on disposal of property, plant and 
equipment 13 – (389) – (389)

Surplus/(deficit) for the year (55 697) 127 992 – –

Statement of financial performance
for the year ended 31 March 2018
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Statement of financial position
as at 31 March 2018

Group Company

31 March
2018

Restated
31 March

2017
31 March

2018

Restated
31 March

2017
Note R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 14 35 047 39 583 35 047 39 583
Intangible assets 15 110 634 92 108 110 634 92 108
Financial assets – long-term investments 16 1 632 511 1 705 064 – –

1 778 192 1 836 754 145 681 131 690

Current assets
Financial assets – short-term investments 16 5 213 275 631 – –
Trade and other receivables from exchange 
transactions 17 9 936 25 268 2 493 2 552
Trade and other receivables from non-exchange 
transactions 17 56 816 105 405 – –
Prepayments and deposits 18 1 319 1 409 1 319 1 409
Cash and cash equivalents 19 211 708 549 310 9 986 12 278

284 992 957 023 13 797 16 238

Total assets 2 063 186 2 793 778 159 479 147 928

LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities
Deferred income – license fees 20 10 417 12 917 10 417 12 917
Provision for allocation by Distributing Agencies –  
long-term portion 21 – 14 660 – –

10 417 27 577 10 417 12 917

Current liabilities
Current portion of deferred income – license fees 20 2 500 2 500 2 500 2 500
Provision for allocation by Distributing Agencies –  
short-term portion 21 580 368 1 245 162 – –
Trade and other payables from exchange transactions 22 13 517 16 932 13 517 16 932
Trade and other payables from non-exchange 
transactions 22 62 490 100 732 94 169
Provisions 23 32 313 21 410 32 313 21 410

628 760 1 286 495 149 063 135 011

Total liabilities 639 177 1 314 072 159 480 147 928

Net assets
Accumulated funds 1 424 009 1 479 706 – –

Total net assets and liabilities 2 063 186 2 793 778 159 479 147 928
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Statement of changes in net assets
for the year ended 31 March 2018

Accumulated
 surplus

Note R’000

Group
Balance as at 1 April 2015
At the beginning of the year 2 486 603
Restated surplus for the year reported in 2015/16 (1 134 889)

Deficit for the year reported in 2015/16 (1 159 698)
Prior period error 27 24 809

Restated balance as at 31 March 2016 1 351 714
127 992

Surplus for the year 128 312
Prior period error 27 (320)

Restated balance as at 31 March 2017 1 479 706
Deficit for the year (55 697)

Balance as at 31 March 2018 1 424 009

Accumulated
 surplus

Note R’000

Company
Balance as at 31 March 2016
At the beginning of the year –
Surplus/(Deficit) for the year –
Balance as at 31 March 2017 –
Surplus/(Deficit) for the period –

Balance as at 31 March 2018 –
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Statement of cash flows
for the year ended 31 March 2018

Group Company

Year ended
31 March 2018

Restated
Year ended 

31 March 2017
Year ended 

31 March 2018

Restated
Year ended

31 March 2017
Note R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Cash flow from operating activities
Cash receipts
Transfers and subsidies – – 433 250 376 000
Cash received from licence holders and 
other parties 1 645 308 1 414 869 – 342
Interest income 107 157 96 718 400 491
Cash received from beneficiaries and 
other parties 2 127 6 743 873 –

1 754 592 1 518 330 434 522 376 833

Cash payments
Cash paid to beneficiaries and other parties (2 073 514) (1 996 901) – –
Employee costs paid (243 674) (197 320) (243 674) (197 320)
Goods and services (183 240) (137 612) (165 318) (137 612)

(2 500 429) (2 331 833) (408 993) (334 932)

Net cash generated (utilised)/from 
operating activities 24 (745 836) (813 503) 25 527 41 901

Cash flow from investing activities
Net purchases of property, plant and equipment (6 475) (15 173) (6 475) (15 173)
Net purchases of intangible assets (21 344) (22 399) (21 344) (22 399)
Net investment of financial assets 436 054 602 211 – –

Net cash flows generated from investing 
activities 408 234 564 639 (27 819) (37 572)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and 
cash equivalent (337 602) (248 864) (2 292) 4 330

Cash and cash equivalent at the beginning 
of the year 19 549 310 798 174 12 278 7 948
Cash and cash equivalent at the end  
of the year 19 211 708 549 310 9 986 12 278
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Statement of comparison of budget and actual 
amounts: Group
for the year ended 31 March 2018

R’000
Approved 

budget Adjustments
Final 

budget
Actual 

amounts

Difference:
 final budget 

and actual

Revenue and income

Share of ticket sales 1 584 469 – 1 584 469 1 391 939 (192 530)
Investment and interest received 170 462 – 170 462 178 639 8 177
Licence fees 2 500 – 2 500 2 500 –
Societies and other lotteries 50 – 50 90 40
Revenue from Participant’s Trust 150 000 – 150 000 205 209 55 209
Fair value adjustment – – – 6 362 6 362
Surplus on disposal of property, plant and 
equipment – – – 34 34
Sundry income 2 800 – 2 800 2 608 (192)

Total revenue and income 1 910 281 – 1 910 281 1 787 382 (122 899)

Expenses
Employee costs (244 630) – (244 630) (252 892) (8 262)
Allocation of grants (1 441 564) – (1 441 564) (1 394 060) 47 504

Current year allocations (1 441 564) – (1 441 564) (1 506 013) (64 449)
Revocations – – – 111 953 111 953

Operating expenses – – – (17 675) (17 675)
Goods and services (212 025) – (212 025) (166 866) 45 159
Administrative expenses – – – (580) (580)
Depreciation and amortisation (9 706) – (9 706) (11 005) (1 299)

Total expenditure (1 907 925) – (1 907 925) (1 843 079) 64 846

Surplus/(deficit) for the year 2 356 – 2 356 (55 697) 58 053)

Capital expenditure
Acquisitions (45 860) – (45 860) (25 064) 20 796
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Account Explanation of difference
Amount

R’000

Share of ticket sales Revenue underperformed as a result of the projections from the Lottery operator not 
materialising. Throughout the financial year Ithuba faced continuing challenges from 
a weakening economy, increased competition from book makers and illegal lottery 
operators. Ticket sales fell in the first part of the year only to gradually increase in the latter 
half of the year as a result of changes made to the LOTTO matrix and the addition of the 
LOTTO PLUS 2 game. (192 530)

Investment and interest 
received

Investment income is higher than budgeted as a result of the revision in the mid-term 
which assumed the NLC would liquidate more investments in order to accelerate 
payments. There are a few investments which were not liquidated as initially anticipated. 
The targeted 8% return on investment was achieved. Actual return of investment for the 
year is 8.40%. 8 177

Revenue from 
Participant’s Trust

Revenue from Participants Trust includes expired prize monies and interest due to the 
NLDTF from the trust. The overperformance is due to more expiries than were expected 
from participants who did not claim prizes. 55 209

Sundry income The variance in other operating income is due to the drop in the debtors book as a result 
of the implementation of the grants financial management policy. (192)

Allocation of grants Revocations were made as a result of the implementation of the grants financial 
management policy. Some of the revocations were made available for redistribution 
in order for the Charities Sector to fast track the 2015 call for application which were 
subsequently cleared. 47 504

Goods and services There was an under-spending in goods and services as a result of savings and 
underspending mainly in the following expenditure items.

• Computer expenses: A payment relating to software costs that were procured during 
the 2017/18 year and paid in the current year was erroneously budgeted for under 
this item.

• Outsourced services: The functional support on the enterprise wide system started 
later than expected.

• Legal fees: The legal division is doing a lot of work directly and doing direct 
intervention and mediation to reduce matters going to court. 45 159

Operating expenses Professional fees for engineers that are responsible for projects which are capital in nature 
are funded from the grants allocations budget. There was no overspending. (17 675)

Property, plant and 
equipment

NLC buildings were procured towards the end of the financial year and as a result the 
planned refurbishment did not take place before year end. Mobile vehicles that were 
budgeted for were deferred to the new financial year. The Disaster Recovery architecture 
was re-engineered which resulted in savings budget of R23 million 20 796
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Statement of comparison of budget and actual 
amounts: Company
for the year ended 31 March 2018

R’000
Approved 

budget Adjustments
Final

 budget
Actual 

amounts

Difference: 
final budget
 and actual

Revenue

Transfers from NLDTF 463 349 – 463 349 426 687 (36 662)
Licence fees 2 500 – 2 500 2 500 –
Interest income 462 – 462 382 (80)
Sundry income – – – 988 988
Surplus on disposal of property, plant and 
equipment – – – 34 34
Societies and other lotteries 50 – 50 90 40

Total revenue 466 361 – 466 361 430 681 (35 680)

Expenses

Employee costs (244 630) – (244 630) (252 892) (8 262)
Goods and services (212 025) – (212 025) (166 783) 45 242
Depreciation and amortisation (9 706) – (9 706) (11 005) (1 299)

Total expenditure (466 361) – (466 361) (430 681) 35 680

Surplus/(deficit) for the year – – – – –

Capital expenditure
Acquisitions (45 860) – (45 860) (25 064) 20 796

Account Explanation of difference
Amount

R’000

Transfers and subsidies 
received

There was an under recovery in transfers and subsidies as a result of the underspending 
in goods and services in the current financial year. See reasons below. (36 662)

Goods and services There was an under-spending in goods and services as a result of savings and 
underspending mainly in the following expenditure items.
• Computer expenses: A payment relating to software costs that were procured 

during the 2017/18 year and paid in the current year was erroneously budgeted for 
under this item. 

• Outsourced services: The functional support on the enterprise wide system started 
later than expected. 

• Legal fees: The legal division is doing a lot of work directly and doing direct 
intervention and mediation to reduce matters going to court. 45 242

Property, plant and 
equipment

NLC buildings were procured towards the end of the financial year and as a result the 
planned refurbishment did not take place before year end. Mobile vehicles that were 
budgeted for were deferred to the new financial year. The Disaster Recovery architecture 
was re-engineered which resulted in savings budget of R23 million 20 796
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The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated and separate financial statements are set out 
below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented.

1. BASIS OF PREPARATION

The consolidated and separate financial statements have been prepared in accordance with South African Generally 
Recognised Accounting Practice (SA GRAP) as well as the Public Finance Management Act, Act No. 1 of 1999, as 
amended (PFMA). They have been prepared in accordance with the going concern principle using the historical cost basis 
except where otherwise stated in the accounting policies below.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GRAP requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. 
It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying NLC’s accounting policies. The areas 
involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the 
consolidated financial statements are outlined in point 19 of the summary of significant accounting policies.

All monetary information and figures presented in these financial statements are stated in thousands of Rand (R’000), 
unless otherwise indicated.

New standards, amendments and interpretations approved and not yet effective

Standard
Scope and 

potential impact Effective date

GRAP 20 : Related Party Disclosures None
No effective date has been determined 
by the Minister of Finance. Standards 
will be applied only upon determination 
of effective date by the Minister where 
applicable.

GRAP 32 : Service Concession Arrangements: Grantor None
GRAP 108 : Statutory Receivables None
GRAP 109: Accounting by Principles and Agents None
IGRAP 17 : Interpretation of the Standard of GRAP on Service 
Concession Arrangements Where the Grantor Controls a 
Significant Residual Interest in an Asset None

NLC did not apply any of the standards above. It is not expected that the above standards, amendments and 
interpretations will have any material impact on the NLC’s financial statements on initial application where applicable.

2. CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements include the assets, liabilities and results of the operations of the holding company 
and its subsidiary. The holding company is NLC.

2.1. Subsidiary

Subsidiaries are all entities (including special purpose entities) over which NLC has the power to govern the financial and 
operating policies.

The NLDTF is a fund established in terms of section 21 of the Lotteries Act. The NLDTF was created to facilitate the 
distribution of funds received to the respective sectors, namely Charities, Sports and Recreation, Arts, Culture and 
National Heritage.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains on intra-group transactions are eliminated. Unrealised losses are 
also eliminated. Subsidiaries’ accounting policies are consistent with the policies adopted by NLC.

3. REVENUE RECOGNITION

Revenue is the gross inflow of economic benefits or service potential during the reporting period when these inflows result 
in an increase in net assets. Revenue is recognised when it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the entity 
and these benefits can be measured reliably.

The NLC distinguishes between two forms of revenues namely, revenue from exchange transactions and revenue from 
non-exchange transactions.

Revenue from exchange transactions is defined as revenue in which NLC receives assets or services, or has liabilities 
extinguished, and directly gives approximately equal value to another entity or party in exchange.

Revenue from non-exchange transactions is defined as revenue in which NLC receives value from another entity or party 
without directly giving approximately equal value in exchange or gives value to another entity or party without directly 
receiving approximately equal value in exchange.

Summary of significant accounting policies
for the year ended 31 March 2018
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Summary of significant accounting policies 
(continued)

for the year ended 31 March 2018

3.1. Transfer from NLDTF

Transfers from the NLDTF are initially measured at fair value on date of transfer. Transfers from the NLDTF are measured at 
the amount of the increase in net assets recognised by the NLC.

The NLC withdraws the amounts as and when required, based on overall approval by the Minister of Trade and Industry. 
Income is generally recognised as operating costs are defrayed, the end result being the surrendering of surpluses to 
(or recovering of any deficit from) the NLDTF, thus not accounting for any accumulated surplus.

3.2. Licence fees

Revenue from licence fees are paid at the inception of the licence by the National Lottery Operator in order to operate the 
licence. The consideration received is measured at the fair value and amortised over the licence term to the Statement of 
Financial Performance.

3.3. Investment income

Investment income comprises interest received from assets held at amortised cost and cash and cash equivalents. Interest 
is accounted for on an accrual basis using the effective interest rate method.

3.4. Share of ticket sales

Revenue from share of ticket sales is accounted for on the accrual basis and is measured as a percentage of ticket sales 
from by the operator as stipulated and agreed in the licence agreement with National Lottery Operator.

3.5. Expired and unclaimed prizes

Expired and unclaimed prizes relate to prizes in constituent lotteries (not being an Instant Lottery) for which remain 
unclaimed for a period of 365 days as stipulated in the licence agreement with the National Lottery Operator. Such monies 
are accounted for on an accrual basis. Payments of the funds are through the intermediation of the Participants Trust. 

3.6. Interest from National Lottery Participant Trust

Any interest that remain in the Participant’s trust after deduction of the Participant’s Trust costs are due to the NLDTF as 
stipulated in the trust deed of the Participant’s Trust. These monies are accounted for on an accrual basis. Payments of the 
funds are through the intermediation of the National Lottery Participants Trust. 

4. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment are tangible items that are expected to be used during more than one reporting period. 
Property and equipment are stated at historical cost less depreciation and impairment. Historical cost includes expenditure 
that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only 
when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to NLC and the cost of the item can be 
measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the financial period in which they 
are incurred.

Property and equipment are depreciated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost to their residual values over 
their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Furniture and fittings 10 to 17 years

Office equipment 3 to 17 years

Computer equipment 3 to 7 years

Network Infrastructure Shorter of the estimated life or period of the lease. Seven years for servers

Leasehold improvements Shorter of estimated life or period of lease

Buildings 99 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed at each reporting period and adjusted if appropriate. An asset’s 
carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its 
estimated recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value-
in-use.

Gains or losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount. These are recorded in 
profit or loss.
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5. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Costs associated with maintaining computer software programmes are recognised as an expense as incurred. 
Development costs that are directly attributable to the design and testing of identifiable and unique software products 
controlled by NLC are recognised as intangible assets when the following criteria are met:

• it is technically feasible to complete the software product so that it will be available for use;

• management intends to complete the software product and use or sell it;

• there is an ability to use or sell the software product;

• it can be demonstrated how the software product will generate probable future economic benefits;

• adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or sell the software product 
are available;

• the expenditure attributable to the software product during its development can be reliably measured

Directly attributable costs, that are capitalised as part of the software product, include the software development employee 
costs and an appropriate portion of directly attributable overheads.

Other development expenditures that do not meet these criteria are recognised as an expense as incurred. Development 
costs previously recognised as an expense are not recognised as an asset in a subsequent period.

Intangible assets are classified as indefinite on initial acquisition when, based on an analysis of all of the relevant factors, 
there is no foreseeable limit to the period over which the asset is expected to provide service potential to the entity.

Software licences and systems with indefinite useful lives are capitalised and not amortised. An annual impairment test will 
be performed on the licences and systems.

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated 
impairment losses.

Intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortised over the term of the contract.

Intangible assets with indefinite lives consists of:

• websites

• integrated systems

6. LEASES

6.1. Operating lease

NLC classifies leases as operating leases where the lessor effectively retains the risks and benefits of ownership. Operating 
lease payments are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

7. FINANCIAL ASSETS

NLC classifies its financial assets in the following categories:

• financial assets at amortised cost

• financial assets at fair value

The classification depends on the purpose for which the financial assets were acquired. Management determines the 
classification of its financial assets at initial recognition.

7.1. Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets at amortised cost are non-derivative financial assets that have fixed or determinable payments, excluding 
those assets that:

• the entity designates at fair value at initial recognition; or

• are held for trading

Financial assets carried at amortised cost, are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. These assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest rate method, less provision for impairment.
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Summary of significant accounting policies 
(continued)

for the year ended 31 March 2018

7. FINANCIAL ASSETS (continued)

NLC will derecognise a financial assets when:

(a) the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, are settled or waived;

(b)  NLC transfers to another party substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset; or 

(c) NLC despite having retained some significant risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset, has transferred 
control of the asset to another party and the other party has the practical ability to sell the asset in its entirety to 
an unrelated third party, and is able to exercise that ability unilaterally and without needing to impose additional 
restrictions on the transfer.

Financial assets at amortised cost consists of:

• Investments;

• Deposits and prepayments;

• Receivables from exchange transaction;

7.2. Financial assets at fair value

Financial instruments at fair value comprise financial assets or financial liabilities that are:

(a) derivatives;

(b) combined instruments that are designated at fair value in accordance with paragraphs 20 or 21 of GRAP 104

(c)  instruments held for trading. A financial instrument is held for trading if:

(i) it is acquired or incurred principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing it in the near-term; or

(ii)  on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that are managed together and for 
which there is evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking;

(d)  non-derivative financial assets or financial liabilities with fixed or determinable payments that are designated at fair 
value at initial recognition in accordance with paragraph 17; and

(e)  financial instruments that do not meet the definition of financial instruments at amortised cost or financial instruments 
at cost.

Financial assets at fair value consists of cash and cash equivalents (refer to note 9).

Financial assets at fair value will be initially recognised is at fair value. A gain or loss arising from a change in the fair value of 
a financial asset measured at fair value shall be recognised in surplus or deficit.

8. IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS

8.1. Financial assets carried at amortised cost

NLC assesses at each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial 
assets is impaired. A financial asset is impaired and impairment losses are incurred only if there is objective evidence of 
impairment as a result of one or more events that have occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a ‘loss event’) and 
the loss event has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets that can 
be reliably estimated.

Objective evidence includes one or more of the following events:

• significant financial difficulty of the issuer or debtor

• a breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in payments

• it becoming probable that the issuer or debtor will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation

• the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties

• observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flow from a group of 
financial assets since the initial recognition of those assets, although the decrease cannot yet be identified with the 
individual financial assets in NLC, including:

– adverse changes in the payment status of issuers or debtors of NLC

– national or local economic conditions that correlates with defaults on the assets of NLC
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8. IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS (continued)

8.1. Financial assets carried at amortised cost (continued)

NLC first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial assets that are individually 
significant. If NLC determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial 
asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics 
and collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an 
impairment loss is or continues to be recognised are not included in a collective assessment of impairment.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred on loans and receivables carried at amortised 
cost, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of 
estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the 
asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account, and the amount of the loss is recognised in profit or loss.

If in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively 
to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised (such as improved credit rating), the previously recognised 
impairment loss is reversed by adjusting the allowance account. The amount of the reversal is recognised in profit or loss.

8.2. Impairment of other non-financial assets

Assets, including intangible assets, that are subject to amortisation, are reviewed for impairment whenever events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. Such indicators include continued 
losses, changes in technology, market, economic, legal and operating environments.

An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. 
The recoverable amount is measured using the higher of the fair value less costs to sell and the value-in-use. Value-in-
use is the present value of projected cash flows covering the remaining useful life of the asset. An impairment charge is 
recognised as a loss in profit or loss immediately.

9. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

NLC classifies its financial liabilities in the following category:

• financial liabilities at amortised cost

9.1. Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities at amortised cost are non-derivative financial assets that have fixed or determinable payments, 
excluding those liabilities that:

• the entity designates at fair value at initial recognition; or

• are held for trading

Financial liabilities carried at amortised cost, are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to the issue of the financial liability.

Financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost consists of:

• Provision for allocation by Distributing Agencies;

• Trade and other payables;

• Other provision;

A gain or a loss is recognised in surplus or deficit when the financial liability is derecognised or through the amortisation 
process.

NLC derecognises financial liability (or a part of a financial liability) from its statement of financial position when, and only 
when, it is extinguished – i.e. when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled, expires or waived.
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Summary of significant accounting policies 
(continued)

for the year ended 31 March 2018

10. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents comprise:

• cash in hand

• deposits held at call and short notice

• balances with banks

Cash and cash equivalents only include items held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments rather than 
for investing or other purposes. It comprises cash in hand and deposits held at call with respective banks. Cash and cash 
equivalents have a maturity of less than three month . Cash and cash equivalents are classified as financial assets at fair 
value and are carried at cost which due to their short-term nature approximates fair value.

11. CONTINGENT ASSETS

Contingent assets are possible assets that arise from past events, and whose existence will be confirmed only by 
the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the entity. 
A contingent asset is not recognised in the financial statement, however it is disclosed where an inflow of economic 
benefits or service potential is probable. Contingent assets are assessed continually to ensure that developments are 
appropriately reflected in the financial statements.

12. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The NLC’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Board manages 
these risks through Board Audit and Risk Committee.

12.1 Market risk

The NLC’s activities as a regulator do not expose it to a significant amount of market risk. Therefore no formal policies have 
been developed to guard against market risk.

12.2. Credit risk

Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents and deposits with banks and financial institutions, as well as credit 
exposures to outstanding receivables and committed transactions.

The NLC also follows regulations issued by National Treasury to manage its exposure to credit risk. This includes spreading 
the investments held among reputable financial institutions.

12.3 Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and cash equivalents to meet the daily demands of 
the operations.

Management monitors daily balances of cash and cash equivalents as well as investment accounts to ensure that enough 
funds are available to meet the needs of the operation.

13. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

13.1. Post-employment benefits

The Government Employees Pension Fund is a defined benefit fund, which provides retirement and death benefits for 
employees. The Senior Executive Grant Funding was the entity’s only member of the Fund. The NLC is not liable for 
any deficits due to the difference between the present value of the benefit obligations, and the fair value of the assets 
managed by the Government Employees Pension Fund. Any potential liabilities are disclosed in the financial statements 
of the National Revenue Fund and not in the financial statements of the NLC. The pension plan is funded by contributions 
from the member and the NLC. Contributions are charged to the Statement of Financial Performance in the year to which 
they relate.

The Provident Fund to which all other employees belong is a defined contribution fund, which provides retirement, death 
and disability benefits. The NLC funds the plan. The contributions are charged to the Statement of Financial Performance 
in the year to which they relate.

13.2. Provision for leave pay

NLC accrues in full the employees’ rights to annual leave entitlement in respect of past service. The undiscounted amount 
is expensed over the period the services are rendered. A provision is made for the estimated liability as a result of services 
rendered by employees up to balance sheet date. The NLC remains liable to pay out an amount equal to the leave balance 
at current rate of remuneration. Payment of the leave is dependent on when employees resign.
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13. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)

13.3 Provision for bonus plan

NLC recognises a provision and an expense for bonuses in staff costs, based on a formula where there is a contractual 
obligation or where there is a past practice that has created a constructive obligation. Bonuses are paid based on the 
outcome of annual performance assessments and only paid once approval of the Board is obtained. The timing of the 
approval of the bonus varies from year-to-year.

14. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business 
from suppliers. Accounts payable are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less from the 
reporting date. If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest rate method.

15. PROVISIONS

Provisions are recognised when, as a result of past events, NLC has a present legal or constructive obligation of uncertain 
timing or amount, and it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle 
the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made.

Provisions are measured as the present value of management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to settle 
the obligation at the reporting date. The discount rate used to determine the present value reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money. The increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as 
interest expense.

16. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

NLC discloses a contingent liability when:

• it has a possible obligation arising from past events, the existence of which will be confirmed only by the occurrence 
or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the entity; or

• it has a present obligation that arises from past events but not recognised because

– it is not probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle an obligation or

– the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

A contingent liability is not recognised in the financial statement, however it is disclosed unless the probability of an outflow 
of economic benefits is remote. Contingent liabilities comprise grants allocated by the Distributing Agencies to beneficiaries 
on a conditional basis and the stipulated conditions have not been met as at 31 March 2018.

17. ALLOCATION OF GRANTS

Allocations are accounted for when applications for assistance from individual entities are considered and grants are 
unconditionally awarded by the respective distributing agencies.

18. CONTRACTUAL COMMITMENTS

A commitment is a contractual arrangement that binds the department to incur future expenditure based on items that 
are still to be received. Disclosure of commitments entered into before year end are relevant for the following standards 
of GRAP:

• GRAP 1 on Presentation of Financial Statements (disclosure of unrecognised contractual commitments)

• GRAP 13 on Leases (disclosure of the future minimum lease payments)

• GRAP 17 on Property, Plant and Equipment (disclosure of contractual commitments for Property, Plant and Equipment)

• GRAP 31 on Intangible Assets (disclosure of the contractual commitments for the acquisition of intangible assets)
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Summary of significant accounting policies 
(continued)

for the year ended 31 March 2018

19. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Assumptions and estimates form an integral part of financial reporting and have an impact on the amounts reported. 
Assumptions are based on historical experience and expectations of future outcomes and anticipated changes in the 
environment. Assumptions are further regularly reviewed in the light of emerging experience and adjusted where required.

19.1 Provision for allocation by Distributing Agencies

Allocations are accounted for when applications for assistance from individual organisations are considered and grants 
are unconditionally awarded by the respective Distributing Agencies. Disclosures are made for those organisations which 
were funded by the NLDTF in which Distributing Agencies may have significant interest in. Disclosures made relate to the 
payments, allocations in the current year and outstanding amounts outstanding at year end.

19.2 Provision for doubtful debts

A provision for doubtful debt is raised in instances where there are indications that the debt may not be recoverable from 
the debtor. The assessment of recoverability is done on a individual debt basis.

19.3 Beneficiaries written off

Beneficiaries written off are those beneficiaries where all avenues for recovery have been completely exhausted and the 
outstanding debts are considered not recoverable.

20. RELATED PARTIES

A related party is a person or an entity with the ability to control or jointly control the other party, or exercise significant 
influence over the other party, or vice versa, or an entity that is subject to common control, or joint control.

As a minimum, the following are regarded as related parties of the reporting entity:

(a) A person or a close member of that person’s family related to the reporting entity if that person:

(i)  has control or joint control over the NLC;

(ii)  has significant influence over the NLC or

(iii)  is a member of the management of the NLDTF or NLC.

Related party transactions are transfers of resources, services or obligations between the NLC and a related party, 
regardless of whether a price is charged.

21. IRREGULAR, FRUITLESS AND WASTEFUL EXPENDITURE

Irregular expenditure means expenditure incurred in contravention of, or not in accordance with a requirement of any 
applicable legislation, including:

• The PFMA, or

• Any legislation providing for procurement procedures

Fruitless and wasteful expenditure means expenditure that was made in vain and would have been avoided had reasonable 
care been exercised.

When confirmed, irregular expenditure must be recorded in the notes to the financial statements. The amount to be 
recorded in the notes must be equal to the value of the irregular expenditure incurred unless it is impracticable to 
determine the value thereof. Where such impracticality exists, the reasons therefore must be provided in the notes. 
Irregular expenditure must be removed from the notes when it is either (a) condoned by the National Treasury or the 
relevant authority; (b) it is transferred to receivables for recovery; or (c) it is not condoned and is irrecoverable. A receivable 
related to irregular expenditure is measured at the amount that is expected to be recovered and must be de-recognised 
when the receivable is settled or subsequently written off as irrecoverable. Any irregular expenditure is charged against 
income in the period in which it is incurred.

Any irregular, fruitless and wasteful expenditure is charged against income in the period in which it is incurred.
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Group Company

Year ended 
31 March 2018

Restated
Year ended 

31 March 2017
Year ended 

31 March 2018

Restated
Year ended 

31 March 2017
R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

1. TRANSFERS FROM NLDTF
Payments from fund in respect of expenses – – 426 687 344 783

– – 426 687 344 783

2. FUND REVENUE
Share of ticket sales 1 391 939 1 371 653 – –
Expired and unclaimed prizes 187 720 48 776 – –
Interest from the National Lottery Participant Trust 17 489 18 172 – –

1 597 148 1 438 600 – –

3. LICENCE FEES
Recognition of lottery licence fees 2 500 2 500 2 500 2 500

2 500 2 500 2 500 2 500

4. OTHER OPERATING REVENUE
Registration fees – Schemes and Societies 90 38 90 38
Sundry income1 1 378 2 044 988 285
Movement in the provision for doubtful debt 1 231 45 947 – –

2 699 48 029 1 078 324

1. Sundry income constitutes a combination of unspent 
amounts returned by beneficiaries as well as amounts due 
from beneficiaries as a result of breach of contract.

5. FAIR VALUE ADJUSTMENT – INVESTMENT
Fair value adjustment – investment 6 362 – – –

6 362 – – –

Fair value is a rational and unbiased estimate of the 
potential market price of the investment. The fair 
value adjustment relates to the equity-linked note 
investments.

6. SURPLUS ON DISPOSAL OF PROPERTY, 
PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 34 – 34 –

34 – 34 –

7. INVESTMENT AND INTEREST INCOME
Call and current accounts 2 553 16 242 382 499
Interest income from investments 176 086 199 297 – –

178 639 215 538 382 499

8. ALLOCATION OF GRANTS
Current year allocations 1 506 013 1 524 187 – –
Revocations (111 953) (384 418) – –

1 394 060 1 139 768 – –

9. EMPLOYEE COSTS
Salaries, wages and allowances 179 561 152 795 179 561 152 795
Medical aid fund contribution 10 680 8 867 10 680 8 867
Defined provident fund contributions 19 777 15 938 19 777 15 938
Defined benefit pension fund contributions 9 335 9 335
Social security levies (Unemployment Insurance 
Fund, Skills Development Levy) 2 624 2 145 2 624 2 145
Risk benefit and management fees 5 408 4 415 5 408 4 415
Provision for leave pay 1 273 (2 480) 1 273 (2 480)
Provision for bonus 33 559 15 808 33 559 15 808

252 892 197 822 252 892 197 822

Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2018
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

for the year ended 31 March 2018

Group Company

Year ended 
31 March 2018

Restated
Year ended 

31 March 2017
Year ended 

31 March 2018

Restated
Year ended 

31 March 2017
R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

10. GOODS AND SERVICES
Advertising and publicity 21 952 16 799 21 952 16 799
Audit fees 3 183 2 263 3 183 2 263
Bank charges 169 204 86 154
Computer expenses 20 942 4 232 20 942 4 232
Conferences and meetings 1 375 801 1 375 801
Consulting fees 14 949 10 022 14 949 10 022
Courier and delivery costs 599 879 599 879
Distributing Agency emoluments 3 647 5 672 3 647 5 672
Professional fees 17 675 23 620 – –
Board member fees including Board committees 4 874 3 169 4 874 3 169
Insurance 2 087 1 162 2 087 1 162
Legal fees 11 382 13 398 11 382 13 398
Rental – Motor vehicles 2 112 2 258 2 112 2 258
Rental – Office buildings 21 101 20 106 21 101 20 106
Rental – Office equipment 1 970 1 694 1 970 1 694
Outsourcing 5 442 311 5 442 311
Printing and stationary 3 324 4 230 3 324 4 230
Refreshments and catering 1 309 1 359 1 309 1 359
Repairs and maintenance 2 008 2 110 2 008 2 110
Small assets written off 32 611 32 611
Staff recruitment 68 383 68 383
Staff training 10 519 3 307 10 519 3 307
Staff welfare 1 546 1 779 1 546 1 779
Subscriptions 856 16 263 856 16 263
Sundry expenses 4 981 4 788 4 981 4 788
Telephone and internet charges 5 983 2 385 5 983 2 385
Travel and accommodation 16 391 17 318 16 391 17 318
Water and electricity 4 065 4 375 4 065 4 375

184 541 165 495 166 783 141 826

11. ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES
Management fees 99 160 – –
Loss from financial instruments 65 42 – –
Write off of PV equalisation – 22 727 – –

Beneficiaries written off 416 42 203 – –

580 65 132 – –

Beneficiaries written off relates to funds which were 
initially earmarked for recovery which were not 
recovered mainly due to prescription period.

12. DEPRECIATION, AMORTISATION
12.1 Depreciation

Network infrastructure 1 839 1550 1 839 1550
Computer equipment 2 356 2069 2 356 2069
Furniture and fittings 1 355 1364 1 355 1364
Leasehold improvements 3 039 1492 3 039 1492

Office equipment 1 834 1001 1 834 1001

10 423 7 475 10 423 7 475

12.2 Amortisation
Software 237 248 237 248

Grants Management System 345 345 345 345

582 594 582 594

Total 11 005 8 069 11 005 8 069
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Group Company

Year ended 
31 March 2018

Restated
Year ended 

31 March 2017
Year ended 

31 March 2018

Restated
Year ended 

31 March 2017
R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

13. DEFICIT ON DISPOSAL OF PROPERTY, 
PLANT AND EQUIPMENT – 389 – 389

– 389 – 389

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT: GROUP AND COMPANY

R’000 Buildings

Network 
Infra-

structure
Computer 
equipment

Furniture 
and 

fittings

Leasehold 
improve-

ments
Office 

equipment Total

Year ended 31 March 2018
Opening carrying amount – 4 534 5 137 9 779 5 421 14 712 39 582
Additions 3 824 382 1 133 45 363 209 5 956
Disposals – – (58) – – (10) (68)

Cost – – (124) – – (16) (140)
Accumulated depreciation – – 66 – – 6 72

Depreciation charge – (1 839) (2 356) (1 355) (3 039) (1 834) (10 423)

Closing carrying amount 3 824 3 078 3 855 8 469 2 745 13 077 35 047

At 31 March 2018
Cost 3 824 7 723 9 802 14 284 8 789 18 192 62 614
Accumulated depreciation – (4 646) (5 947) (5 815) (6 044) (5 115) (27 566)

Carrying amount 3 824 3 078 3 855 8 469 2 745 13 077 35 047

Year ended 31 March 2017
Opening carrying amount – 5 567 5 802 10 920 2 735 6 721 31 745
Additions – 517 1 765 305 4 178 8 992 15 756
Disposals – – (361) (82) – – (443)

Cost – – (1 052) (292) – (5) (1 349)
Accumulated depreciation – – 691 210 – 5 906

Depreciation charge – (1 550) (2 069) (1 364) (1 492) (1 001) (7 475)

Closing carrying amount – 4 534 5 137 9 779 5 421 14 712 39 583

At 31 March 2017

Cost – 7 341 8 793 14 239 8 426 17 999 56 797
Accumulated depreciation – (2 807) (3 656) (4 460) (3 004) (3 287) (17 215)

Carrying amount – 4 534 5 137 9 779 5 421 14 712 39 582

143INTEGRATED REPORT OF NATIONAL LOTTERIES COMMISSION 2017/18 

PART A
GENERAL 

INFORMATION

PART B
PERFORMANCE 
INFORMATION

PART C
GOVERNANCE

PART D
DIVISIONAL  
REPORTS

PART E
FINANCIAL 

INFORMATION

PART F
NATIONAL LOTTERY 

PARTICIPANTS TRUST



Notes to the financial statements (continued)

for the year ended 31 March 2018

15. INTANGIBLE ASSETS: GROUP AND COMPANY

R’000

Geographical 
Information

 System
Enterprise 

System1 Software2

Grant
Management

 System Website Total

Period ended 31 March 2018
Opening carrying amount 1 470 89 852 243 345 198 92 108
Additions 340 18 750 18 – – 19 108
Disposals – – – – – –

Cost – – – – – –
Accumulated depreciation – – – – – –

Impairment charge – – – – – –
Amortisation charge – – (237) (345) – (582)

Closing carrying amount 1 810 108 602 24 – 198 110 634

At 31 March 2018
Cost 1 810 108 602 2 655 6 963 198 120 227
Accumulated amortisation/
impairment – – (2 630) (6 963) – (9 593)

Carrying amount 1 810 108 602 24 – 198 110 634

Year ended 31 March 2017
Opening carrying amount – 66 687 492 691 198 68 067
Additions 1 470 23 165 – – – 24 635
Disposals – – – – – –

Cost – – (84) – – (84)
Accumulated depreciation – – 84 – – 84

Amortisation charge – – (248) (345) – (594)

Closing carrying amount 1 470 89 852 243 345 198 92 108

At 31 March 2017
Cost 1 470 89 852 2 637 6 963 198 101 119
Accumulated amortisation/
impairment – – (2 393) (6 618) – (9 011)

Carrying amount 1 470 89 852 243 345 198 92 108

1.  Enterprise system are various applications that are being developed for the NLC that will support business processes, information flows, reporting 
and data analytics.

2.  GMS, Payday and Pastel are carried at zero but still in use.

Group Company

Year ended 
31 March 2018

Restated
Year ended 

31 March 2017
Year ended 

31 March 2018

Restated
Year ended 

31 March 2017
R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

16. FINANCIAL ASSETS
The Group’s investment in financial assets are 
summarised by measurement category below:
Financial assets at amortised cost:
– Money market securities 5 000 267 054 – –
– Capital market securities 1 300 000 1 474 000 – –
– Accrued Interest 326 362 239 641 – –
Financial assets at fair value
– Equity intrinsic value 6 362 – – –

Total investment 1 637 724 1 980 695 – –

Current 5 213 275 631 – –
Non-current 1 632 511 1 705 065 – –

1 637 724 1 980 695 – –

Maturity profile:

Money market securities are in the form of fixed deposits with maturity dates greater than three months but no more than 
12 months. Funds are invested at fixed interest rates which vary per institution. The capital market securities comprise 
investments that are more than 12 months and comprise equity linked notes. The weighted average yield to maturity is 
8.40% (2017: 8.15%).
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Group Company

Year ended 
31 March 2018

Restated
Year ended 

31 March 2017
Year ended 

31 March 2018

Restated
Year ended 

31 March 2017
R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
17.1 Trade and other receivables from exchange 

transactions
– Study loans and advances 804 1 092 804 1 092
– Staff receivables – payroll 483 474 483 474
– Sundry debtors 1 178 939 1 178 939
Accrued income 7 471 22 710 28 45

– Interest receivable on current and call accounts 244 424 28 45
– Interest receivable on short-term investments 7 227 22 286 – –

Total 9 936 25 216 2 493 2 552

Claims from beneficiaries – 52 – –

– Gross amount claimed 8 536 9 819 – –
– Provision for doubtful claim recovery from 

beneficiaries (8 536) (9 767) – –

Current 9 936 25 268 2 493 2 552

9 936 25 268 2 493 2 552

17.2 Trade and other receivables from 
non-exchange transactions
Accrued income 56 816 105 405 – –

– Interest receivable from the National Lotteries 
Participant Trust 9 125 4 355 – –

– Expired and unclaimed prize money due to the 
NLDTF 22 945 72 994 – –

– Share of ticket sales from the National Lottery 
Operator 24 743 28 056 – –

Total 56 816 105 405 – –

Current 56 816 105 405 –

56 816 105 405 – –

18. PREPAYMENTS AND DEPOSITS
Insurance and property rental prepayments 678 775 678 775
Deposits 641 634 641 634

1 319 1 409 1 319 1 409

Deposits relate to amounts paid on inception of 
operating lease contracts entered into by the NLC 
for the leasing of property (refer to note 25.2 for 
details of operating lease commitments).

19. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash at bank – current account 45 401 62 617 7 221 9 599
Cash at bank – call account 3 186 8 641 2 728 2 641
Cash on hand 37 37 37 37
Fixed deposits with maturity dates less than 
three months 163 085 478 016 – –

211 708 549 310 9 986 12 278

Cash and cash equivalents included for the purposes of the cash flow statement are equal to the list detailed above. Included 
in the R2.728 million call account of the NLC is an amount of R2.44 million which is pledged as a guarantee in favour of 
Growth Point Properties (Pty) Ltd in terms of the NLC lease agreement. The current accounts are not pledged.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

for the year ended 31 March 2018

Group Company

Year ended 
31 March 2018

Restated
Year ended 

31 March 2017
Year ended 

31 March 2018

Restated
Year ended 

31 March 2017
R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

20. DEFERRED REVENUE – LICENCE FEES
Opening balance 15 417 17 917 15 417 17 917
Income deferred – – –
Amount charged to statement of financial 
performance (2 500) (2 500) (2 500) (2 500)

Closing balance 12 917 15 417 12 917 15 417

Current 2 500 2 500 2 500 2 500
Non-current 10 417 12 917 10 417 12 917

12 917 15 417 12 917 15 417

21. PROVISION FOR ALLOCATION BY 
DISTRIBUTING AGENCIES
Opening balance 1 259 822 2 070 358 – –
Additional provision made during the period 
(including increases to existing provisions) 1 506 013 1 524 187 – –
Payments made during the period (2 073 514) (1 973 031) – –
Remeasurement of the estimated future outflow 
of economic benefits – 22 727 – –
Revocations (111 953) (384 418) – –

Closing balance 580 368 1 259 822 – –

Current 580 368 1 245 162 – –
Non-current – 14 660 – –

580 368 1 259 822 – –

Cash disbursed refers not only to payments against 
current year allocations but also to payments relating 
to commitments owing from previous financial years. 
Payments against prior year commitments are in 
accordance with duly signed grant agreements.

22. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
22.1 Trade and other payables from exchange 

transactions
Supplier payables 133 4 133 4
Accruals 10 093 10 769 10 093 10 769
Payroll creditors 129 2 085 129 2 085
Straight-lining of operating lease payments 3 162 4 074 3 162 4 074

13 517 16 932 13 517 16 932

Current 13 517 16 932 13 517 16 932
Non-current – – – –

13 517 16 932 13 517 16 932

22.2 Trade and other payables from non-exchange 
transactions
– National Lottery Distribution Trust Fund – – 100 732 94 169
– Unallocated funds 62 62 – –
– Amount due to Ithuba – 429 – –

62 490 100 732 94 169
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Group Company

Year ended 
31 March 2018

Restated
Year ended 

31 March 2017
Year ended 

31 March 2018

Restated
Year ended 

31 March 2017
R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

23. PROVISIONS
Leave pay
Opening balance 4 611 9 196 4 611 9 196
Additional provisions raised 5 183 4 611 5 183 4 611
Used during the year (701) (2 114) (701) (2 114)
Unused amounts reversed (3 910) (7 082) (3 910) (7 082)

Closing balance 5 183 4 611 5 183 4 611

Bonus
Opening balance 16 428 13 019 16 428 13 019
Additional provisions raised 27 130 16 428 27 130 16 428
Used during the year (16 428) (12 054) (16 428) (12 054)
Unused amounts reversed – (965) – (965)

Closing balance 27 130 16 428 27 130 16 428

General provision
Opening balance 372 322 372 322
Additional provisions raised – 372 – 372
Used during the year (372) – (372) –
Unused amounts reversed – (322) (322)

Closing balance – 372 – 372

General provision relates to the amount provided for 
in respect of workmen’s compensation.
Current 32 313 21 410 32 313 21 410
Non-current – – – –

32 313 21 410 32 313 21 410

24. CASH FLOW INFORMATION
24.1 Cash generated by operations

Surplus/(deficit) per the statement of financial 
performance (55 697) 127 992 – –
Adjusted for:
Non-cash items:
Amortisation and impairment 582 594 582 594
Deferred revenue (2 500) (2 500) (2 500) (2 500)
Depreciation 10 423 7 475 10 423 7 475
Operating lease payments smoothing (912) 83 (912) 83
(Profit)/loss on sale of assets (34) 389 (34) 389
Provision for bad debts (1 231) (45 947) – –
Bad debts written off 416 42 203 – –
Write off of PV equalisation – 22 727 – –
Accrued income – (149 348) – (45)
Loss from financial instruments – 42 – –
Fair value adjustment (6 362) – – –

(55 314) 3 711 7 560 5 996

Working capital changes
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other receivables (28 531) (12 931) 249 (1 213)
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables 6 561 7 379 6 815 38 244
Increase/(decrease) in provisions 10 903 (1 126) 10 903 (1 126)
Decrease in provision for allocation of Distributing 
Agency (679 454) (810 536) – –

Net cash generated/(utilised) from operating 
activities (747 836) (813 503) 25 527 41 901
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

for the year ended 31 March 2018

Group Company

Year ended 
31 March 2018

Restated
Year ended 

31 March 2017
Year ended 

31 March 2018

Restated
Year ended 

31 March 2017
R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

25. COMMITMENTS
25.1 Capital commitments

Purchase order commitments – 3 380 – 3 380

– 3 380 – 3 380

25.2 Operating lease commitments
NLC leases buildings for its head office and 
provincial offices under operating leases. The 
remaining periods of the leases are from one year 
to four years. The future minimum commitments in 
terms of the leases of buildings, including NLC’s 
head office are as follows:
Due within one year 19 705 19 658 19 705 19 658
Due within two to five years 1 588 16 720 1 588 16 720
Due after five years – – – –

Net commitment 21 293 36 377 21 293 36 377

The lease term of the provincial leases is four (4) 
years with the exception of the Polokwane office 
which is five (5) years. The lease in Polokwane 
escalates at 7% per annum. The leases in Kimberly, 
Nelspruit and North West escalate at 8% per 
annum, whilst the leases in Cape Town, Pretoria 
and East London escalate at 9% per annum and 
the leases for Durban and the Free State escalate 
at 10% per annum.

25.3 Operating commitments
Purchase order commitments 477 2 768 477 2 768
Contract commitments 21 622 – 21 622 –

22 099 2 768 22 099 2 768

Operating commitments relate to purchase order and contract commitments. Contract commitments are for a period 
ranging from 12 to 36 months.

26. MANAGEMENT OF FINANCIAL RISK

NLC’s management monitors and manages the financial risks relating to the operations of the entity through internal risk reports 
which analyse exposures by degree and magnitude of risks. These risks include market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in 
market prices and investment return. Market risk that could impact on future cash flows and hence the value of a financial 
instrument arises from:

Interest rate risk: The impact of changes in market interest rates.

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party by failing to 
discharge an obligation.

Liquidity risk is the risk that NLC will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities due to 
insufficient cash being available to meet commitments as and when they become due.

Financial risks are managed by NLC as follows:
• Through internal risk reports which analyse exposures by degree and magnitude of risks;
• Review by the internal auditors of compliance with policies and exposure limits on a continual basis and regularly 

reporting to the Audit Committee; and
• Monitoring forecast and accrual cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities.

To assist in the analysis of the financial risks that NLC is exposed to, the statement of financial position has been divided 
into the following categories:

• Financial assets and liabilities; and

• Non-financial assets and liabilities.
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26. MANAGEMENT OF FINANCIAL RISK

Total

Financial 
assets and

 liabilities

Non-financial 
assets and 

liabilities
R’000 R’000 R’000

As at 31 March 2018
Financial instruments at amortised cost
Unlisted:

Money market securities 5 213 5 213 –
Capital market securities 1 626 149 1 626 149 –
Trade and other receivables from exchange transaction 9 936 9 936 –
Trade and other receivables from non-exchange transaction 56 816 56 816 –

Deposits and prepayments 1 319 1 319 –
Financial instruments at fair value:

Cash and cash equivalents 211 708 211 708 –
Equity intrinsic value 6 362 6 362

Non-financial assets
Other assets 145 681 – 145 681

Total assets 2 063 184 1 917 503 145 681

Financial liabilities at amortised cost:
Provision for allocation by Distributing Agencies 580 368 580 368 –
Trade payables from exchange transactions 13 517 13 517 –
Trade payables from non-exchange transactions 62 62 –
Provisions 32 313 32 313 –

Total liabilities 626 260 626 260 –

As at 31 March 2017
Financial instruments at amortised cost
Unlisted:

Money market securities 275 631 275 631 –
Capital market securities 1 705 065 1 705 065 –
Trade and other receivables from exchange transaction 25 615 25 615 –
Trade and other receivables from non-exchange transaction 105 405 105 405 –

Deposits and prepayments 1 409 1 409 –
Financial instruments at fair value:
Cash and cash equivalents 549 310 549 310 –
Non-financial assets
Other assets 131 690 – 131 690

Total assets 2 794 124 2 662 434 131 690

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Provision for allocation by Distributing Agencies 1 259 822 1 259 822 –
Trade payables from exchange transactions 16 932 16 932 –
Trade payables from non-exchange transactions 429 429 –
Provisions 21 410 21 410 –

Total liabilities 1 298 592 1 298 592 –
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

for the year ended 31 March 2018

26.1 Financial assets and liabilities

The NLC is exposed to financial risk through the following financial assets and liabilities:

31 March 31 March
2018 2017

R’000 R’000

Financial instruments at amortised cost
Unlisted:

Money market securities 5 213 275 631
Capital market securities 1 626 149 1 705 065
Trade and other receivables from exchange transaction 9 936 25 268
Trade and other receivables from non-exchange transaction 56 816 105 405

Deposits and prepayments 1 319 1 409
Financial instruments at fair value:

Cash and cash equivalents 211 708 549 310
Equity intrinsic value 6 362 –

Total financial assets 1 917 503 2 662 087

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Provision for allocation by Distributing Agencies 580 368 1 259 822
Trade payables from exchange transactions 13 517 16 932
Trade payables from non-exchange transactions 62 429
Provisions 32 313 21 410

Total financial liabilities 626 260 1 298 592
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26. MANAGEMENT OF FINANCIAL RISK (continued)

26.1 Financial assets and liabilities (continued)

26.1.1 Market risk

(a) Interest rate risk

Sensitivity to changes in interest rates is relevant to financial assets or financial liabilities bearing floating interest 
rates due to the risk that future cash flows will fluctuate. NLC invests its money market instruments at a fixed rate. 
There will be no impact on the future cash flows of the entity as a result of changes in interest rates.

The table below details the specific interest rate risk that the NLC is exposed to:

Carrying 
amount Fixed Floating

Non-interest
 bearing

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

As at 31 March 2018
Financial instruments at amortised cost
Unlisted:

Money market securities 5 213 5 213 – –
Capital market securities 1 626 149 1 626 149 – –
Trade and other receivables from exchange transaction 9 936 – – 9 936
Trade and other receivables from non-exchange 
transaction 56 816 – – 56 816

Deposits and prepayments 1 319 – – 1 319
Financial instruments at fair value

Cash and cash equivalents 211 708 163 085 48 587 37
Equity intrinsic value 6 362 – – 6 362

Total financial assets 1 917 503 1 794 446 48 587 74 470

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Provision for allocation by Distributing Agencies 580 368 – – 580 368
Trade payables from exchange transactions 13 517 – – 13 517

Total financial liabilities 593 885 – – 593 885

As at 31 March 2017
Financial instruments at amortised cost
Unlisted:

Money market securities 275 631 275 631 – –
Capital market securities 1 705 065 1 705 065 – –
Trade and other receivables from exchange transaction 25 615 – – 25 615
Trade and other receivables from non-exchange 
transaction 105 405 – – 105 405

Deposits and prepayments 1 409 – – 1 409
Financial instruments at fair value
Cash and cash equivalents 549 310 478 016 71 257 37

Total financial assets 2 662 434 2 458 711 71 257 132 465

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Provision for allocation by Distributing Agencies 1 259 822 – – 1 259 822
Trade payables from exchange transactions 16 932 – – 16 932

Total financial liabilities 1 276 754 – – 1 276 754
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

for the year ended 31 March 2018

26.1.2 Credit risk

Key areas where NLC is exposed to credit risk:

• Financial investments comprising money market instruments entered to invest surplus funds

• Cash and cash equivalents

The NLC is exposed to credit risk in a form of money market instruments that are invested with the various 
institutions. The NLC is further exposed to credit risk from government and state-owned entities in terms of capital 
market instruments that are purchased from the various institutions.

AA+ A+
AA A BBB

Total AAA AA- A- BBB+ Not rated
R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

As at 31 March 2018
Financial instruments at 
amortised cost
Unlisted:

Money market securities 5 213 – – – 5 213 –
Capital market securities 1 626 149 – – – 1 626 149 –

Financial instruments at 
fair value –
Cash and cash equivalents 211 708 – – – 211 708 –
Equity intrinsic value 6 362 6 362

1 849 432 – – – 1 849 432 –

AA A BBB
Total AAA AA- A- BBB+ Not rated

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

As at 31 March 2017
Financial instruments at 
amortised cost
Unlisted:

Money market securities 275 631 – – – 275 631 –
Capital market securities 1 705 065 – – – 1 705 065 –

Financial instruments at 
fair value –
Cash and cash equivalents 549 310 – – – 549 310 –

2 530 005 – – – 2 530 005 –

Credit risk relating to receivables

R’000 31 March 2018 31 March 2017

National Lottery Participants Trust 32 071 40 683
Gidani (Pty) Ltd – 36 665
Ithuba (Pty) Ltd 24 745 28 056
Beneficiaries 8 536 9 819
Staff receivables and other receivables from exchange transactions 9 936 25 216

75 289 140 440
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26. MANAGEMENT OF FINANCIAL RISK (continued)

26.1 Financial assets and liabilities (continued)

26.1.2 Credit risk (continued)

The ageing of the components of trade and receivables was:

Gross Impairment Gross Impairment
31 March 2018 31 March 2018 31 March 2017 31 March 2017

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Within a year 66 752 – 131 267 (646)
Later than one year 8 536 (8 536) 9 173 (9 121)

Total 75 289 (8 536) 140 440 (9 767)

The movement in the provision for impairment during the year was as follows:

31 March 2018 31 March 2017
R’000 R’000

Balance at the beginning of the year 9 767 55 713
Movement in provision (1 231) (45 947)

Balance at the end of the year 8 536 9 767

26.1.3 Liquidity risk

The table below analyses the NLC’s non-derivative financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the 
remaining period at the reporting date to the contractual maturity date.

Total
Less than

 a year
Greater than

 a year
R’000 R’000 R’000

As at 31 March 2018
Provision for allocation by Distributing Agencies 580 368 580 368 –

Total 580 368 580 368 –

As at 31 March 2017
Provision for allocation by Distributing Agencies 1 259 822 1 245 162 14 660

Total 1 259 822 1 245 162 14 660

27. PRIOR PERIOD ERROR

27.1 Prior period error – Group

During the current financial year errors were identified relating to the prior years. The nature of the errors are as follows:

Revenue from non-exchange transactions

• During the current financial year Ithuba recovered an amount of R428 542.99 for share of ticket sales which was as a 
result of the operator overpaying the NLC in the 2016/17 financial year

• During the current financial year Ithuba paid an amount of R1 892 680.48 relating to week 96 ending 1 April 2017. 
The NLC accrued R1 681 959.06 in the 2016/17 financial year as per the agreed upon procedures report. An 
adjustment was made to share of ticket sales.

• During the current financial year Ithuba paid an amount of R10 303 419.31 relating to share of ticket sales for 1 April 
2017. Only R10 276 018.76 was adjusted for in the 2016/17 financial year to reflect the accrual for that financial year.

• During the current financial year Gidani (the previous Lottery operator) submitted a reconciliation for Unclaimed Prizes. 
The reconciliation reflected an amount of R36 665 472.86 which was due to the NLDTF in the 2015/16 financial year. 
This amount is as a result of scratch card prizes which were unclaimed and expired as at 31 May 2015 which was not 
accounted for as the information was not available during the compilation of the 2015/16 financial statements. Gidani 
paid the proceeds on 29 March 2018.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

for the year ended 31 March 2018

Other licence fees

• During the 2015/16 financial year a receivable amounting to R11 735 799.95 was raised in error, however there was no 
basis for raising the receivable.

Goods and services

During the current financial year study loans from previous financial year should have been converted to study expenses 
and treated as such in the relevant financial periods. This amounted to R369 739 from the 2013/14 financial year to the 
2016/17 financial year.

Employee costs

During the 2016/17 financial year an amount of R24 634 was errornously paid to an employee. The amount was fully 
recovered in the 2017/18 financial year.

The financial statements have been retrospectively restated.

Year ended 
31 March 2017

Year ended 
31 March 2016

Year ended
 31 March 2015

R’000 R’000 R’000

The impact of the errors are as follows:
Increase/(decrease) in fund revenue (245) 24 930
Increase in goods and services (100) (121) (149)
Decrease in employee costs 25

Increase in statement of financial performance (320) 24 809 (149)

Increase in trade and other payables from non-exchange 
transactions (427) –
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other receivables from non-
exchange transactions 106 24 809 (149)

Increase/(decrease) in net assets (320) 24 809 (149)

27.2 Prior period error – Company

During the current financial year errors were identified relating to the prior years. The nature of the error(s) is as follows:

Goods and services

During the current financial year study loans from previous financial year should have been converted to study expenses 
and treated as such in the relevant financial periods. This amounted to R369 739 from the 2013/14 financial year to the 
2016/17 financial year.

Employee costs

During the 2016/17 financial year an amount of R24 634 was errornously paid to an employee. The amount was fully 
recovered in the 2017/18 financial year.

Year ended 
31 March 2017

Year ended 
31 March 2016

Year ended 
31 March 2015

R’000 R’000 R’000

The impact of the errors are as follows:
Increase in goods and services (100) (121) (149)
Decrease in employee costs 25 – –

Increase in statement of financial performance (75) (121) (149)

Increase in trade and other payables from non-exchange transactions 2 – –
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other receivables from non-exchange 
transactions (77) (121) (149)

Increase in net assets (75) (121) (149)
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28. CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING ESTIMATE

During the current financial period, the lease term of seven (7) leased properties was amended and extended by one (1) 
year. This resulted in a change in estimate for the period that was used. A revised equalised amount was calculated and 
the current year increased by R670 353. For the remainder of the period the lease will increase by R432 444.

Leasehold improvements useful life estimate changed by a year as result of the lease extension. The effect on the current 
and future periods will be a decrease in the depreciation charge of R423 894 in the current period and an increase in the 
depreciation charge of R434 747 over the next period.

29. TAXATION

The National Lotteries Commission is exempt from income tax in terms of section 10(1)(cA) of the Income Tax Act, 1962.

30. CONTINGENT ASSET

During the 2016/17 financial year an amount was deducted by SARS from the bank account of the NLC. NLC has disputed 
the amount as it was incorrectly deducted. The first dispute was in favour of the NLC and SARS reversed penalties that 
it charged however the interest was not reversed. NLC has disputed the interest charged and is waiting for the outcome 
from SARS. The amount of interest being disputed is R5 million. NLC is in the process of approaching the ombudsman 
regarding this matter.

31. EVENTS AFTER REPORTING DATE

During the month of May 2018, the property that was purchased in Northern Cape for provincial office accommodation 
was subsequently registered in NLC’s name. During the month of June 2018, the property that was purchased in Free 
State for provincial office accommodation was subsequently registered in NLC’s name. During the month of June, the NLC 
reached a settlement agreement with an applicant who had taken a matter to court.

32. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Contingent liabilities comprise grants allocated by the Distributing Agencies to beneficiaries on a conditional basis and 
the stipulated conditions have not been met as at 31 March 2018 (herein the soft allocation). The accumulated funds as 
disclosed in the statement of financial position that would ordinarily be made available for allocation to good causes in the 
new financial year will be affected by the extent to which these conditional grants convert to firm commitments once the 
stipulated conditions are met. The claims against NLDTF relate to pending cases against beneficiaries to the organisation.

Group Company

2018 2017 2018 2017
R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Conditional allocations by Distributing Agencies – 1 553 – –
Legal fees – – – –
Claims against the NLDTF – – – –

Contingent liability at the end of the period – 1 553 – –

33. RING-FENCED PROJECTS

In an effort to meet the legislated 150 days turnaround time for adjudicating applications and finalising the 2015 call for 
application, a portion of the 2018/19 budget was ring-fenced to fund the applications that were received before year end. 
To this effect an amount of R63 million was allocated from the 2018/19 budget.

34.1. Comparison of approved budget and final budget – Group

The budget and the accounting bases are the same; both are on the accrual basis. The financial statements and the 
budget are prepared using a classification on the nature of expenses in the statement of financial performance.

Approved
 budget

Final
 budget Adjustments

Reason for adjustmentsR’000 R’000 R’000

Fund revenue 1 584 469 1 584 469 – No adjustments to budget
Interest received 170 462 170 462 – No adjustments to budget
Licence fees 2 500 2 500 – No adjustments to budget
Other operating income 2 800 2 800 – No adjustments to budget
Employee costs (244 630) (244 630) – No adjustments to budget
Allocation of grants (1 441 564) (1 441 564) – No adjustments to budget
Goods and services (212 025) (212 025) – No adjustments to budget
Society lotteries 50 50 – No adjustments to budget
Revenue from Participant Trust 150 000 150 000 – No adjustments to budget
Depreciation and amortisation (9 706) (9 706) – No adjustments to budget
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

for the year ended 31 March 2018

34.2. Comparison of approved budget and final budget – Company

The budget and the accounting bases are the same; both are on the accrual basis. The financial statements and the 
budget are prepared using a classification on the nature of expenses in the statement of financial performance.

Approved 
budget

Final 
budget Adjustments

Reason for adjustmentsR’000 R’000 R’000

Transfers and subsidies received 463 349 463 349 – No adjustments to budget
Licence fees 2 500 2 500 – No adjustments to budget
Interest income 462 462 – No adjustments to budget
Society lotteries 50 50 – No adjustments to budget
Employee costs (244 630) (244 630) – No adjustments to budget
Goods and services (212 025) (212 025) – No adjustments to budget
Depreciation and amortisation (9 706) (9 706) – No adjustments to budget

35. DISTRIBUTING AGENCY FEES – SPORTS AND RECREATION

Members’ 
fees

Travel 
costs

Professional
 fees

Total
 2018

Total 
2017

Members R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Dr JH Adams 147 18 76 241 213
Mr RR Mali 349 81 179 609 592
Mr ME Ncula 422 36 230 689 552
Ms A Hill 235 29 86 350 –
Ms R Ravele 274 22 100 396 100
Mr TA Sikhosana 226 4 72 302 122
Ms A van Wieringen 8 5 13 131
Ms J Krubavathi 89 11 68 169 100
Ms VN Siyothula – – – – 256

Total 1 751 207 811 2 769 2 067

Distributing Agency fees – Charities

Members’
 fees

Travel 
cost

Professional
 fees

Total 
2018

Total 
2017

Members R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Mr GA McDonald* – – – – 349
Mr N Nxesi* – – – – 160
Ms IV Smith* – – – – 391
Ms NE Kela* – – – – 645
Mr A Beesley* – – – – 60

Total – – – – 1 604

* The term of the members came to an end on 31 March 2018 whereafter the Charities Distributing Agencies were appointed on a full time basis.
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35. DISTRIBUTING AGENCY FEES – SPORTS AND RECREATION (continued)

Distributing Agency fees – Arts, Culture and National Heritage

Members’ 
fees

Travel costs/
allowance

Professional 
fees

Total
 2018

Total 
2017

Members R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Ms DN Jafta* – – – – 227
Mr B Mgcina* – – – – 236
Mrs HK Makgae* – – – – 252
Mr WI Reetsang* – – – – 194
Mrs TN Mkhwanzi- Xaluva* – – – – 156
Mr PC Ngove* – – – – 278
Mr N Maake* – – – – 144
Mr G Ngcobo* – – – – 167
Ms B Sisane* – – – – 180
Mr M Zwane* – – – – 124

Total – – – – 1 958

* The term of the members came to an end on 30 November 2016 whereafter the Arts Distributing Agencies were appointed on a full time basis.

36. EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENTS EMOLUMENTS

Basic
salary

Provident
 Fund

 contributions
Travel

allowance
Cellphone
 allowance

Performance
 bonus

Annual 
bonus

Total
2018

Total
2017

Executives R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Mrs T Mampane 
Commissioner 2 797 – 144 – 441 – 3 382 3 008
Mr P Letwaba  
Chief Operations Officer1 2 144 274 120 48 418 – 3 003 2 603
Ms X Ntuli  
Chief Financial Officer2 2 052 169 – 36 261 – 2 518 –
Mr J du Preez  
Senior Executive:  
Grant Funding3 287 9 13 – 412 96 818 2 788
Mr M Ramusi 
Chief Information Officer 2 138 274 120 48 372 – 2 951 2 623
Ms T Nkuna 
Executive: Regulatory 
Compliance 1 767 – 156 48 281 – 2 252 1 966
Mr T Maselwa  
Executive Manager: Legal* 469 58 – 16 – – 543 –
Ms M Nene  
Company Secretary* 469 58 – 16 – – 543 –
Ms M Makoela 
Executive: Corporate 
Services4 524 – – 12 281 – 818 1 959

Total 12 647 842 553 224 2 467 96 16 829 14 947

1. Mr P Letwaba was acting Executive: Grant Funding from 10 April 2017 until 30 November 2017 and was appointed as the Chief Operations Officer 
from 1 December 2017. Mr P Letwaba was the Chief Financial Officer in the 2016/17 financial year.

2.  Ms X Ntuli was acting Chief Financial Officer from 11 April 2017 until 30 November 2017 and was appointed as Chief Financial Officer from 
1 December 2017

3. The contract of Mr J du Preez came to an end on 9 April 2017

4. The contract of Ms M Makoela came to an end on 30 June 2017

*  The executives were appointed on 1 December 2017
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

for the year ended 31 March 2018

37. BOARD MEMBERS EMOLUMENTS

The following fees were paid to or receivable by the Board of Directors and Committee Members during the period under 
review:

Board 
meeting fees

Travel 
costs

Cellphone 
allowance

Total
 2018

Total 
2017

Members R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Prof NA Nevhutanda 1 210 138 18 1 366 1 099
Ms M Mokoka* 28 2 2 32 597
Ms NEP Loyilane* 6 – – 6 65
Prof G Reddy* 33 2 2 36 630
Adv TS Kekana 372 22 12 406 480
Mr A Cowell* 14 – – 14 96
Adv WE Huma# 637 44 10 691 –
Prof Y Gordhan# 725 53 11 789 –
Dr M Madzivhandila# 766 135 12 913 –
Ms D Dondur# 634 56 13 703 –
Mrs Z Brown^ – 23 – 23 –

Total 4 424 476 79 4 979 2 967

*  The term of the members came to an end on 30 April 2017
#  The term of the members commenced on 1 May 2017
^  Mrs Brown is the Minister’s Nominee. She is not paid any board fees. The amount that was paid relates to travel expenditure.

38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The NLC is a regulator of the National Lottery. Ithuba Holdings (Pty) Ltd is a private company that currently operates the 
National Lottery under licence from the Government. Ithuba commenced as the licence operator from 1 June 2015 after 
the licence agreement with the previous operator (Gidani (Pty) Ltd) came to an end on 31 May 2015. The Operator pays 
monies into the NLDTF in terms of the license agreement. These proceeds are destined for good causes as specified in 
the Lotteries Act and allocated to deserving applicants by Distributing Agencies appointed by the Minister of Trade and 
Industry (dti). The NLC manages the NLDTF and accounts for all running costs. The NLC withdraws the necessary funds 
required from the NLDTF, based on overall annual budget approved by the Minister of Trade and Industry. The dti and 
all entities under common control of the Department of Trade and Industry are regarded as related parties in terms of 
IPSAS 20. There were no transactions between NLC and any of the dti entities.

158 INTEGRATED REPORT OF NATIONAL LOTTERIES COMMISSION 2017/18



38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Group Company

Year ended 
31 March 2018

Restated
Year ended 

31 March 2017
Year ended 

31 March 2018

Restated
Year ended 

31 March 2017
R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

38.1 Transactions between the NLDTF and 
other parties
Transfers from NLDTF (Actual payments to NLC 
amounted to R433 million for the current year 
(2016/17 R376 million) – – 426 687 344 783
Receivables from non-exchange transactions – NLC – – 100 732 94 169

Ithuba Holdings (Pty) Ltd
Proceeds from Ithuba (Pty) Ltd 1 391 939 1 371 653 – –
Add: Trade and other receivables from 
non-exchange (opening) 28 056 20 876 – –
Less: Trade and other receivables from 
non-exchange (closing) (24 764) (28 056) – –

Cash proceeds from Ithuba (Pty) Ltd 1 395 232 1 364 472 – –

Trade payable from non-exchange transactions – 
Ithuba Holdings (Pty) Ltd – 429 – –

Gidani (Pty) Ltd
Receivables from non-exchange transactions – 36 665 – –
Proceeds from Gidani (Pty) Ltd 36 665 – – –

36 665 36 665 – –

National Lottery Participant Trust (NLPT)
Proceeds from NLPT 205 209 66 948 – –
Add: Trade and other receivables from non-
exchange (opening) 4 355 6 171 – –
Less: Trade and other receivables from non-
exchange (closing) (32 071) (4 355) – –

Cash proceeds 177 493 68 764 – –

38.2 Controlling entity
The NLC reports to the Department of Trade and 
Industry which is a controlling entity. The following 
transactions took place between the DTI and 
the NLC:
The National Department of Trade and Industry 170 – 170 –

38.3 Entities under common control
The following entities are entities under the common 
control of the Department of Trade and Industry. 
No transactions took place between the NLC and 
these entities.
Companies and Intellectual Property Commission – – – –
Companies Tribunal – – – –
National Empowerment Fund – – – –
Export Credit Insurance Corporation of South Africa 
SOC Limited – – – –
South African Bureau of Standards – – – –
National Credit Regulator – – – –
National Gambling Board – – – –
South African National Accreditation System – – – –
National Consumer Tribunal – – – –
National Consumer Commission – – – –
National Metrology Institute of South Africa – – – –
National Regulator for Compulsory Specifications – – – –
ITAC – – – –
Competition Commission – – – –
B-BBEE Commission – – – –
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

for the year ended 31 March 2018

39. PROVISION FOR ALLOCATION BY DISTRIBUTING AGENCIES

It is the duty of the Distributing Agency Members to adjudicate applications for funding within their respective sectors. Members 
who have a conflict that may impact the ability to adjudicate impartially do not adjudicate on the projects, as they recuse 
themselves whilst these projects are being adjudicated. Listed below are balances and transactions with those organisations 
which were funded by the NLC and in which Distributing Agencies have significant interest.

Sector Name of beneficiary
Distributing 
Agency member Nature of relationship

Amount
 granted
2017/18

Payments
 2017/18

Revocations
 2017/18

Amount
owing

2017/18

Amount
 owing

2016/17
R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

CDA National Association 
of people living with 
HIV/Aids

N Nxesi Former National Director 
and Secretary General of 
the organisation – 400 – – 400

ACENHDA Merakeng Foundation W Reetsang Chairman of the 
foundation – 1 664 – 1 674 3 338

ACENHDA KZN Arts and Culture 
Trust

G Ngcobo Served as CEO of the 
organisation – – – 2 582 2 582

ACENHDA PANSALB M Zwane Chief Executive Officer – – 10 000 – 10 000
ACENHDA Walter Sisulu 

University African 
Heritage Archive

DN Jafta Committee Member

– – – 2 960 2 960
ACENHDA The Jazz Foundation 

(SA)
B Sisane The member is part 

of the management 
committee – 800 – – 800

SRDA Boland Athletics HJH Adams President of Boland 
Athletics – 2 519 – – 2 519

SRDA Athletics South Africa Mr Skhosana and 
Dr Adams

Mr Skhosana: President 
of ASA Dr Adams: 
Deputy President 20 372 14 260 – 6 112 –

SRDA Boxing South Africa Ms ME Ravele* Chairperson of the 
organisation – – 2 999 – 2 999

SRDA Athletics Gauteng 
North

Mr Skhosana and 
Dr Adams

Mr Skhosana: President 
of ASA Dr Adams: 
Deputy President 1 010 800 – 210 –

SRDA Athletics Vaal Triangle Mr Skhosana and 
Dr Adams

Mr Skhosana: President 
of ASA Dr Adams: 
Deputy President 1 670 1 300 – 370 –

SRDA Athletics Free State Mr Skhosana and 
Dr Adams*

Mr Skhosana: President 
of ASA Dr Adams: 
Deputy President 2 500 2 000 263 500 263

SRDA Athletics Mpumalanga Mr Skhosana and 
Dr Adams

Mr Skhosana: President 
of ASA Dr Adams: 
Deputy President 2 500 – – 2 500 –

SRDA KZN Athletics Mr Skhosana and 
Dr Adams

Mr Skhosana: President 
of ASA Dr Adams: 
Deputy President 500 500 – – –

SRDA Central Gauteng 
Athletics

Mr Skhosana and 
Dr Adams

Mr Skhosana: President 
of ASA Dr Adams: 
Deputy President 2 500 2 000 – 500 –

SRDA Western Province 
Athletics

Mr Skhosana and 
Dr Adams

Mr Skhosana: President 
of ASA Dr Adams: 
Deputy President 2 204 1 102 – 1 102 –

SRDA Athletics North West Mr Skhosana and 
Dr Adams

Mr Skhosana: President 
of ASA Dr Adams: 
Deputy President 1 908 1 526 – 382 –

CDA Training and 
Resources in Early 
Education

Mr A Beesley* Member

– 220 – – 220

* Errornously omitted in the 2016/17 disclosure.
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In the instances below members have relatively significant interest even though the interest did not amount to significant control. 
These have been disclosed for prudence.

Sector Name of beneficiary
Distributing 
Agency member Nature of Relationship

Amount 
granted 
2017/18

Payments
 2017/18

Revocations
 2017/18

Amount 
owing 

2017/18

Amount 
owing 

2016/17
R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

SRDA University of the 
Western Cape A Travil Lecturer at UWC – 190 – – 190

CDA Child Welfare 
Tshwane

Ms I Smith Worked with the 
Chairperson from 2011 
– 2014 1 327 – – 1 327 –

ACENHDA University of Limpopo N Maake Former employee – – – 400 400
ACENHDA University of 

Witwatersrand
N Maake Honorary pres-lessons in 

the school of languages 
and literature of Wits – 200 – – 200

SRDA MAVU M.E Ravele and 
A Hill

Ms ME Ravele and 
Ms A Hill (Chairperson of 
Assisted Organisation – 
South African Women and 
Sports Foundation 15 925 15 925 – 4 000 4 000

ACENHDA Village Tourism Trust PC Ngove The organisation is 
mothering the organisation 
that he/she is a trustee – 380 – – 380

SRDA Grass Roots Soccer Ms A Hill Former CEO of Special 
Olympics who is working 
with Grass Roots Soccer 
SA on the project – 3 407 – – 3 407
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Report of the Auditor-General to Parliament  
on the National Lottery Distribution Trust Fund
Report on the audit of the financial statements
OPINION

1. I have audited the financial statements of the National Lottery Distribution Trust Fund set out on pages 166 to 187, which 
comprise of the statement of financial position as at 31 March 2018, the statement of financial performance, statement of 
changes in net assets, statement of cash flows and statement of comparison of budget information with actual information for 
the year then ended, as well as the notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

2. In my opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the National Lottery 
Distribution Trust Fund as at 31 March 2018, and financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with Standards of Generally Recognised Accepted Practice (GRAP) and the requirements of the Public Finance 
Management Act of South Africa, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999) (PFMA).

3. I conducted my audit in accordance with the International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). My responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the auditor-general’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of this 
auditor’s report.

4. I am independent of the trust in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of ethics 
for professional accountants (IESBA code) and the ethical requirements that are relevant to my audit in South Africa. I have 
fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA code.

5. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF ACCOUNTING AUTHORITY FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

6. The accounting authority is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance 
with the with Standards of GRAP and the requirements of the PFMA, and for such internal control as the accounting 
authority determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.

7. In preparing the financial statements, the accounting authority is responsible for assessing the National Lotteries Distribution 
Trust Fund ’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going concern and using 
the going concern basis of accounting unless the accounting authority either intends to liquidate the trust or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

AUDITOR-GENERAL’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

8. My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the ISAs will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users 
taken on the basis of these financial statements.

9. A further description of my responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is included in the annexure to this auditor’s report.

Report on the audit of the annual performance report
INTRODUCTION AND SCOPE

10. In accordance with the Public Audit Act of South Africa, 2004 (Act No. 25 of 2004) (PAA) and the general notice issued 
in terms thereof, I have a responsibility to report material findings on the reported performance information against 
predetermined objectives for selected objectives presented in the annual performance report. I performed procedures to 
identify findings but not to gather evidence to express assurance.

11. My procedures address the reported performance information, which must be based on the approved performance 
planning documents of the trust. I have not evaluated the completeness and appropriateness of the performance indicators/ 
measures included in the planning documents. My procedures also did not extend to any disclosures or assertions relating 
to planned performance strategies and information in respect of future periods that may be included as part of the reported 
performance information. Accordingly, my findings do not extend to these matters.

12. I evaluated the usefulness and reliability of the reported performance information in accordance with the criteria developed 
from the performance management and reporting framework, as defined in the general notice, for the following selected 
objectives presented in the annual performance report of the trust for the year ended 31 March 2018:

Objectives
Pages in the annual 
performance report

Objective 4 – To ensure fair and equitable grant allocations 44 – 45
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13. I performed procedures to determine whether the reported performance information was properly presented and whether 
performance was consistent with the approved performance planning documents. I performed further procedures to 
determine whether the indicators and related targets were measurable and relevant, and assessed the reliability of the 
reported performance information to determine whether it was valid, accurate and complete.

14. I did not raise any material findings on the usefulness and reliability of the selected reported performance information.

OTHER MATTER

15. I draw attention to the matter below.

Achievement of planned targets
16. Refer to the annual performance report on pages 40 to 45 for information on the achievement of planned targets for the year 

over achievement of a number of targets.

Report on the audit of compliance with legislation
INTRODUCTION AND SCOPE

17. In accordance with the PAA and the general notice issued in terms thereof, I have a responsibility to report material findings 
on the compliance of the trust with specific matters in key legislation. I performed procedures to identify findings but not to 
gather evidence to express assurance.

18. I did not raise material findings on compliance with the specific matters in key legislation set out in the general notice issued 
in terms of the PAA.

Other information
19. The accounting authority is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included 

in the annual report. The other information does not include the financial statements, the auditor’s report and those selected 
objectives presented in the annual performance report that have been specifically reported in this auditor’s report.

20. My opinion on the financial statements and findings on the reported performance information and compliance with 
legislation do not cover the other information and I do not express an audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion 
thereon.

21. In connection with my audit, my responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other 
information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements and the selected objectives presented in the annual 
performance report, or my knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

22. If, based on the work I have performed, I conclude that there is a material misstatement in this other information, I am 
required to report that fact. I have nothing to report in this regard.

Internal control deficiencies
23. I considered internal control relevant to my audit of the financial statements, reported performance information and 

compliance with applicable legislation; however, my objective was not to express any form of assurance on it. I did not 
identify any significant deficiencies in internal control.

AUDITOR-GENERAL SOUTH AFRICA

Auditing to build public confidence

31 July 2018

Report of the Auditor-General to Parliament  
on the National Lottery Distribution Trust Fund 
(continued)
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1. As part of an audit in accordance with the ISAs, I exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism 
throughout my audit of the financial statements, and the procedures performed on reported performance information for 
selected objectives and on the trust’s compliance with respect to the selected subject matters.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. In addition to my responsibility for the audit of the financial statements as described in this auditor’s report, I also:

• identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements whether due to fraud or error, design 
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for my opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than 
for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control

• obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the trust’s internal control

• evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by the board, which constitutes the accounting authority

• conclude on the appropriateness of the board, which constitutes the accounting authority’s use of the going concern 
basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements. I also conclude, based on the audit evidence obtained, 
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the National 
Lotteries Distribution Trust Fund’s ability to continue as a going concern. If I conclude that a material uncertainty 
exists, I am required to draw attention in my auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements about 
the material uncertainty or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify the opinion on the financial statements. My 
conclusions are based on the information available to me at the date of this auditor’s report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause an trust to cease continuing as a going concern

• evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and 
whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation

COMMUNICATION WITH THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE

3. I communicate with the accounting authority regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that I identify during my audit.

4. I also confirm to the accounting authority that I have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, 
and communicate all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to have a bearing on my independence 
and, where applicable, related safeguards.

Annexure – Auditor-general’s responsibility for 
the audit
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Statement of financial performance
for the year ended 31 March 2018

Year ended Year ended
31 March 2018 31 March 2017

Restated
Notes R’000 R’000

REVENUE 1 783 388 1 701 345

Revenue from non-exchange transactions 1 597 148 1 438 600

Fund revenue 1 1 597 148 1 438 600

Revenue from exchange transactions 186 239 262 744

Investment and interest income 2 178 257 215 039
Other operating income 3 1 621 47 705
Fair value adjustment – Investment 4 6 362 –

EXPENDITURE (1 839 084) (1 573 353)

Grants allocated 5 (1 394 060) (1 139 768)
Transfers to the NLC 6 (426 687) (344 783)
Administrative expenses 7 (663) (65 182)
Operating expenses 8 (17 675) (23 620)

Surplus/(deficit) for the year (55 697) 127 992

NATIONAL LOTTERY DISTRIBUTION TRUST FUND
Established in terms of Lotteries Act, No 57 of 1997, as amended

166 INTEGRATED REPORT OF NATIONAL LOTTERIES COMMISSION 2017/18



Statement of financial position
as at 31 March 2018

31 March 2018 31 March 2017
Restated

Notes R’000 R’000

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Financial assets – long-term investments 9 1 632 511 1 705 064
Current assets
Financial assets – short-term investments 9 5 213 275 631
Trade and other receivables from exchange transactions 10 7 443 22 717
Trade and other receivables from non-exchange transactions 11 157 549 199 574
Cash and cash equivalents 12 201 723 537 033

371 928 1 034 954

Total assets 2 004 438 2 740 018

LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities
Provision for allocations by Distributing Agencies – long-term portion 13 – 14 660

– 14 660

Current liabilities
Provision for allocations by Distributing Agencies – short-term portion 13 580 368 1 245 162
Trade and other payables from non-exchange transactions 14 62 490

580 429 1 245 652

Total liabilities 580 429 1 260 312

Net assets
Accumulated funds 1 424 008 1 479 706

Total net assets and liabilities 2 004 437 2 740 018

NATIONAL LOTTERY DISTRIBUTION TRUST FUND
Established in terms of Lotteries Act, No 57 of 1997, as amended
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Statement of changes in net assets
for the year ended 31 March 2018

Accumulated
surplus 

Notes R’000

Balance as at 1 April 2015
At the beginning of the year 2 486 603
Restated surplus for the year reported in 2015/16 (1 134 889)

Deficit for the year reported in 2015/16 (1 159 698)
Prior period error 17 24 809

Restated balance as at 31 March 2016 1 351 714
Restated surplus for the year 127 992

Surplus for the year reported in 2016/17 128 312
Prior period error 17 (320)

Restated balance as at 31 March 2017 1 479 706
Deficit for the year (55 697)

Balance as at 31 March 2018 1 424 008

NATIONAL LOTTERY DISTRIBUTION TRUST FUND
Established in terms of Lotteries Act, No 57 of 1997, as amended
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Statement of cash flows
for the year ended 31 March 2018

Year ended Year ended
31 March 2018 31 March 2017

Note R’000 R’000

Cash flow from operating activities
Cash receipts
Cash received from licence holder and Participants Trust 1 645 308 1 414 527
Interest income 106 758 96 227
Cash received from beneficiaries and other parties 1 257 6 743

1 753 323 1 517 497

Cash payments
Cash paid to beneficiaries and other parties (2 524 686) (2 372 901)

(2 524 686) (2 372 901)

Net cash utilised in operating activities 15 (771 364) (855 404)

Cash flow from investing activities
Net redemption/(investment) of financial assets 436 054 602 212

Net cash flows generated from investing activities 436 054 602 212

Net increase in cash and cash equivalent (335 310) (253 193)
Cash and cash equivalent at the beginning of the year 12 537 033 790 226

Cash and cash equivalent at the end of the year 12 201 723 537 033

NATIONAL LOTTERY DISTRIBUTION TRUST FUND
Established in terms of Lotteries Act, No 57 of 1997, as amended
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Statement of comparison of budget and actual 
amounts
for the year ended 31 March 2018

Approved 
budget Adjustments

Final 
budget

Actual 
amounts

Difference: 
Final budget 

and actual
R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Revenue

Share of ticket sales 1 584 469 – 1 584 469 1 391 939 (192 530)
Investment and interest income 170 000 – 170 000 178 257 8 257
Revenue from Participant Trust 150 000 – 150 000 205 209 55 209
Fair value adjustment – Investment – – – 6 362 6 362
Other operating income 2 800 – 2 800 1 621 (1 179)

Total revenue 1 907 269 – 1 907 269 1 783 388 (123 881)

Expenses
Allocation of grants (1 441 564) – (1 441 564) (1 394 060) 47 504

Current year allocations (1 441 564) – (1 441 564) (1 506 013) (64 449)
Revocations – – – 111 953 111 953

Operating expenses – – – (17 675) (17 675)
Transfers to NLC (463 349) – (463 349) (426 687) 36 662
Administrative expenses – – – (663) (663)

Total expenditure (1 904 913) – (1 904 913) (1 839 084) 66 491

Surplus/(deficit) for the year 2 356 – 2 356 (55 697) (57 390)

Line item Explanation of material variances Amount

Share of ticket sales Revenue underperformed as a result of the projections from the Lottery operator not 
materialising. Throughout the financial year Ithuba faced continuing challenges from 
a weakening economy, increased competition from book makers and illegal lottery 
operators. Ticket sales fell in the first part of the year only to gradually increase in 
the latter half of the year as a result of changes made to the LOTTO matrix and the 
addition of the LOTTO PLUS 2 game. (192 530)

Investment income Investment income is higher than budgeted as a result of the revision in the 
mid-term which assumed the NLC would liquidate more investments in order to 
accelerate payments. There are a few investments which were not liquidated as 
sufficient funds were available. The targeted 8% return on investment was achieved. 
Actual return of investment for the year is 8.40%. 8 257

Revenue from 
Participants Trust

Revenue from Participants Trust includes expired prize monies and interest due to 
the NLDTF from the trust. The overperformance is due to more expiries than were 
expected from participants who did not claim prizes. 55 209

Allocation of grants Revocations were made as a result of the implementation of the Grants Financial 
Management Policy. Some of the revocations were made available for redistribution 
in order for the Charities Sector to fast track the 2015 call for application which were 
subsequently cleared. 47 504

Revocations Withdrawals were approved as a result of implementation of the Grants Financial 
Management Policy. 111 953

Operating expenses Professional fees for engineers that are responsible for projects which are capital in 
nature are funded from the grants allocations budget. There was no overspending. (17 675)

Transfers to NLC Less funds were transferred as a result of the underspending and savings in goods 
and services by the NLC. 36 662

NATIONAL LOTTERY DISTRIBUTION TRUST FUND
Established in terms of Lotteries Act, No 57 of 1997, as amended
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Summary of significant accounting policies
for the year ended 31 March 2018

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below. These policies have 
been consistently applied to all the years presented.

1. BASIS OF PREPARATION

The annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with South African Standards of Generally Recognised 
Accounting Practice (SA GRAP) as well as the Public Finance Management Act, Act No. 1 of 1999, as amended (PFMA). 
They have been prepared in accordance with the going concern principle using the historical cost basis except where 
otherwise stated in the accounting policies below.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with SA Standards of GRAP requires the use of certain critical 
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying NLDTF’s accounting 
policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are 
significant to the financial statements are outlined in point 12 of the summary of significant accounting policies.

All monetary information and figures presented in these financial statements are stated in thousands of Rand (R’000), 
unless otherwise indicated.

New standards, amendments and interpretations approved and not yet effective

Standard
Scope and 
potential impact Effective date

GRAP 20: Related Party Disclosures None

No effective date has been determined 
by the Minister of Finance. Standards 
will be applied only upon determination 
of effective date by the Minister where 
applicable.

GRAP 32: Service Concession Arrangements: Grantor None

GRAP 108: Statutory Receivables None

GRAP 109: Accounting by Principles and Agents None

IGRAP 17: Interpretation of the Standard of GRAP on 
Service Concession Arrangements Where the Grantor 
Controls a Significant Residual Interest in an Asset

None

NLDTF did not apply any of the standards above. It is not expected that the above standards, amendments and 
interpretations will have any material impact on the NLDTF’s financial statements on initial application where applicable.

2. REVENUE RECOGNITION

Revenue is the gross inflow of economic benefits or service potential during the reporting period when these inflows result 
in an increase in net assets.

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the enterprise and these benefits can 
be measured reliably.

The NLDTF distinguishes between two forms of revenues namely revenue from exchange transactions and revenue from 
non-exchange transactions.

Revenue from exchange transactions is defined as revenue in which NLDTF receives assets or services, or has liabilities 
extinguished, and directly gives approximately equal value to another entity or party in exchange.

Revenue from non-exchange transactions is defined as revenue in which NLDTF receives value from another entity or 
party without directly giving approximately equal value in exchange or gives value to another entity or party without directly 
receiving approximately equal value in exchange.

2.1 Investment income

Investment income comprises interest accrued from assets held at amortised cost and cash and cash equivalents. Interest 
is accounted for on an accrual basis using the effective interest rate method.

2.2 Share of ticket sales

Revenue from share of ticket sales is accounted for on the accrual basis and is measured as a percentage of ticket sales 
as stipulated and agreed in the licence agreement with the National Lottery Operator.

NATIONAL LOTTERY DISTRIBUTION TRUST FUND
Established in terms of Lotteries Act, No 57 of 1997, as amended
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2.3 Expired and unclaimed prizes

Expired and unclaimed prizes relate to prizes in constituent lotteries (not being an Instant Lottery) for which remain 
unclaimed for a period of 365 days as stipulated in the licence agreement with the National Lottery Operator. Such monies 
are accounted for on an accrual basis. Payments of the funds are through the intermediation of the Participants Trust.

2.4 Interest from the Participants Trust

Any interest that remain in the Participants Trust after deduction of the Participants Trust costs are due to the NLDTF as 
stipulated in the trust deed of the Participant’s Trust. These monies are accounted for on an accrual basis. Payments of the 
funds are through the intermediation of the Participants Trust.

3. FINANCIAL ASSETS

NLDTF classifies its financial assets in the following categories:

• financial assets at amortised cost; and

• financial assets at fair value.

The classification depends on the purpose for which the financial assets were acquired. Management determines the 
classification of its financial assets at initial recognition.

3.1 Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets at amortised cost are non-derivative financial assets that have fixed or determinable payments, excluding 
those instruments that:

• the entity designates at fair value at initial recognition; or

• are held for trading.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost, are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. These assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest rate method, less provision for impairment.

NLC’s investments are classified at amortised cost and consists of money market securities.

NLC will derecognise a financial asset when:

(a) the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, are settled or waived;

(b) NLC transfers to another party substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset; or

(c) NLC despite having retained some significant risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset, has transferred 
control of the asset to another party and the other party has the practical ability to sell the asset in its entirety to 
an unrelated third party, and is able to exercise that ability unilaterally and without needing to impose additional 
restrictions on the transfer.

Financial assets at amortised cost consists of:

• investments; and

• receivables from exchange transaction.

3.2 Financial assets at fair value

Financial instruments at fair value comprise financial assets or financial liabilities that are:

(a) derivatives;

(b) combined instruments that are designated at fair value in accordance with paragraphs 20 or 21 of GRAP 104;

(c) instruments held for trading. A financial instrument is held for trading if:

(i) it is acquired or incurred principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing it in the near-term; or

(ii) on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that are managed together and for 
which there is evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking;

(d) non-derivative financial assets or financial liabilities with fixed or determinable payments that are designated at fair 
value at initial recognition in accordance with paragraph 17; and

(e) financial instruments that do not meet the definition of financial instruments at amortised cost or financial instruments 
at cost.

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

for the year ended 31 March 2018

NATIONAL LOTTERY DISTRIBUTION TRUST FUND
Established in terms of Lotteries Act, No 57 of 1997, as amended
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Financial assets at fair value consists of cash and cash equivalents (refer to note 6).

Financial assets at fair value will be initially recognised at fair value. A gain or loss arising from a change in the fair value of a 
financial asset measured at fair value shall be recognised in surplus or deficit.

4. IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS

4.1 Financial assets carried at amortised cost

NLDTF assesses at each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial 
assets is impaired. A financial asset is impaired and impairment losses are incurred only if there is objective evidence of 
impairment as a result of one or more events that have occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a ‘loss event’) and 
the loss event has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets that can 
be reliably estimated.

Objective evidence includes one or more of the following events:

• significant financial difficulty of the issuer or debtor;

• a breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in payments;

• it becoming probable that the issuer or debtor will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

• the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties; and

• observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flow from a group of 
financial assets since the initial recognition of those assets, although the decrease cannot yet be identified with the 
individual financial assets in NLDTF, including:

– adverse changes in the payment status of issuers or debtors of NLDTF; and

– national or local economic conditions that correlates with defaults on the assets of NLDTF.

NLDTF first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial assets that are individually 
significant. If NLDTF determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial 
asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics 
and collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an 
impairment loss is or continues to be recognised are not included in a collective assessment of impairment.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred on loans and receivables carried at amortised 
cost, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of 
estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the 
asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account, and the amount of the loss is recognised in profit or loss.

If in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively 
to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised (such as improved credit rating), the previously recognised 
impairment loss is reversed by adjusting the allowance account. The amount of the reversal is recognised in profit or loss.

4.2 Impairment of other non-financial assets

Assets, including intangible assets, that are subject to amortisation, are reviewed for impairment whenever events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. Such indicators include continued 
losses, changes in technology, market, economic, legal and operating environments.

An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. 
The recoverable amount is measured using the higher of the fair value less costs to sell and the value-in-use. Value-in-
use is the present value of projected cash flows covering the remaining useful life of the asset. An impairment charge is 
recognised as a loss in profit or loss immediately.

5. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents comprise:

• cash in hand;

• deposits held at call and short notice; and

• balances with banks.
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Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

for the year ended 31 March 2018

NATIONAL LOTTERY DISTRIBUTION TRUST FUND
Established in terms of Lotteries Act, No 57 of 1997, as amended

Cash and cash equivalents only include items held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments rather than 
for investing or other purposes. It comprises cash in hand and deposits held at call with respective banks. Cash and cash 
equivalents have a maturity of less than three months. Cash and cash equivalents are classified as financial assets at fair 
value and are carried at cost which due to their short-term nature approximates fair value.

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The NLDTF’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including fair value interest rate risk, cash flow 
interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Board manages these risks through a Board Audit and 
Risk Committee.

6.1 Market risk

The NLDTF’s activities as a regulator do not expose it to a significant amount of market risk. Therefore no formal policies 
have been developed to guard against market risk.

6.2 Credit risk

Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents and deposits with banks and financial institutions, as well as credit 
exposures to outstanding receivables and committed transactions. For banks and financial institutions, only banks 
approved by the Minister of Finance are used.

The NLDTF also follows regulations issued by National Treasury to manage its exposure to credit risk. This includes 
spreading the investments held among reputable financial institutions.

6.3 Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and cash equivalents to meet the daily demands of 
the operations.

Management monitors daily balances of cash and cash equivalents as well as investment accounts to ensure that enough 
funds are available to meet the needs of the operation.

7. PROVISIONS

Provisions are recognised when, as a result of past events, NLDTF has a present legal or constructive obligation of 
uncertain timing or amount, and it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required 
to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made.

Provisions are measured as the present value of management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to settle 
the obligation at the reporting date. The discount rate used to determine the present value reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money. The increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as 
interest expense.

8. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

NLDTF discloses a contingent liability when:

• it has a possible obligation arising from past events, the existence of which will be confirmed only by the occurrence or 
non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the entity; or

• it has a present obligation that arises from past events but not recognised because:

– it is not probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle an obligation; or

– the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

A contingent liability is not recognised in the financial statement, however, it is disclosed unless the probability of an 
outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Contingent liabilities comprise grants allocated by the Distributing Agencies to beneficiaries on a conditional basis and the 
stipulated conditions have not been met at year-end.

9. ALLOCATION OF GRANTS

Allocations are accounted for when applications for assistance from individual entities are considered and grants are 
unconditionally awarded by the respective distributing agencies.
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10. RECONCILIATION OF THE APPROVED BUDGET TO THE ACTUAL SURPLUS/DEFICIT AS PER THE STATEMENT 
OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

A comparison of budget amounts and the actual amounts arising from execution of the budget has been prepared on the 
accrual basis highlighting the actual variances that have resulted for the period.

11. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Assumptions and estimates form an integral part of financial reporting and have an impact on the amounts reported. 
Assumptions are based on historical experience and expectations of future outcomes and anticipated changes in the 
environment. Assumptions are further regularly reviewed in the light of emerging experience and adjusted where required.

11.1 Provision for allocation by Distributing Agencies

Allocations are accounted for when applications for assistance from individual organisations are considered and grants are 
unconditionally awarded by the respective Distributing Agencies.

Disclosures are made for those organisations which were funded by the NLDTF in which Distributing Agencies may have 
significant interest in. Disclosures made include payments, allocations in the current year and outstanding amounts 
outstanding at year-end.

11.2 Provision for doubtful debts

A provision for doubtful debt is raised in instances where there are indications that the debt may not be recoverable from 
the debtor. The assessment of recoverability is done on an individual debt basis.

11.3 Beneficiaries written off

Beneficiaries written off are those beneficiaries where all avenues for recovery have been completely exhausted and the 
outstanding debts are considered not recoverable.

12. IRREGULAR EXPENDITURE

Irregular expenditure means expenditure incurred in contravention of, or not in accordance with a requirement of any 
applicable legislation, including:

• the PFMA; or

• any legislation providing for procurement procedures.

When confirmed, irregular expenditure must be recorded in the notes to the financial statements. The amount to be 
recorded in the notes must be equal to the value of the irregular expenditure incurred unless it is impracticable to 
determine the value thereof. Where such impracticality exists, the reasons therefore must be provided in the notes. 
Irregular expenditure must be removed from the notes when it is either (a) condoned by the National Treasury or the 
relevant authority; (b) it is transferred to receivables for recovery; or (c) it is not condoned and is irrecoverable. A receivable 
related to irregular expenditure is measured at the amount that is expected to be recovered and must be derecognised 
when the receivable is settled or subsequently written off as irrecoverable. Any irregular expenditure is charged against 
income in the period in which it is incurred.

13. RELATED PARTIES

A related party is a person or an entity with the ability to control or jointly control the other party, or exercise significant 
influence over the other party, or vice versa, or an entity that is subject to common control, or joint control.

As a minimum, the following are regarded as related parties of the reporting entity:

(a) A person or a close member of that person’s family related to the reporting entity if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the NLDTF; or

(ii) has significant influence over the NLDTF.

Related party transactions are transfers of resources, services or obligations between the NLDTF and a related party, 
regardless of whether a price is charged.

14. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

NLDTF classifies its financial liabilities in the following category:

• financial liabilities at amortised cost.
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Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

for the year ended 31 March 2018

NATIONAL LOTTERY DISTRIBUTION TRUST FUND
Established in terms of Lotteries Act, No 57 of 1997, as amended

14.1 Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities at amortised cost are non-derivative financial assets that have fixed or determinable payments, 
excluding those liabilities that:

• the entity designates at fair value at initial recognition; or

• are held for trading.

Financial liabilities carried at amortised cost, are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to the issue of the financial.

Financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost consists of:

• provision for allocation by Distributing Agencies; or

• trade and other payables from non-exchange transactions.

A gain or a loss is recognised in surplus or deficit when the financial liability is derecognised or through the amortisation 
process.

NLDTF derecognises financial liability (or a part of a financial liability) from its statement of financial position when, and only 
when, it is extinguished – i.e. when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled, expires or waived.
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Year ended 
31 March 2018

 R’000

Year ended 
31 March 2017

 Restated
 R’000

1. Fund revenue
Share of ticket sales 1 391 939 1 371 653
Interest earned on unclaimed and expired prizes – National Lottery 
Participant Trust 17 489 18 172
Expired and unclaimed prizes 187 720 48 776

1 597 148 1 438 600

2. Investment and interest income
Interest from call and current accounts 2 171 15 743
Investment income 176 086 199 297

178 257 215 039

3. Other operating revenue
Sundry income 390 1 758
Movement in the provision for doubtful debt 1 231 45 947

1 621 47 705

Sundry income constitutes a combination of unspent amounts returned by 
beneficiaries as well as amounts due from beneficiaries as a result of breach of 
contract.

4. Fair value adjustment – Investment
Fair value adjustment – Investment 6 362 –

6 362 –

Fair value is a rational and unbiased estimate of the potential market price of the 
investment. The fair value adjustment relates to the equity-linked note investments.

5. Allocation of grants
Current year allocations 1 506 013 1 524 187
Revocations (111 953) (384 418)

1 394 060 1 139 768

6. Transfers and subsidies paid to NLC
Payments from fund in respect of expenses 426 687 344 783

426 687 344 783

7. Administrative expenses
Bank charges 82 50
Management fees 99 160
Loss from financial instruments 65 42
Write off of PV Equalisation – 22 727
Debtors written off 416 42 203

663 65 182

Debtors written off mainly relates to funds which were written of mainly due to 
prescription period.

8. Operating expenditure
Professional fees 17 675 23 620

17 675 23 620

Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2018

NATIONAL LOTTERY DISTRIBUTION TRUST FUND
Established in terms of Lotteries Act, No 57 of 1997, as amended
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

for the year ended 31 March 2018

NATIONAL LOTTERY DISTRIBUTION TRUST FUND
Established in terms of Lotteries Act, No 57 of 1997, as amended

Year ended 
31 March 2018

 R’000

Year ended 
31 March 2017

 Restated
 R’000

9. Financial assets
Investment in financial assets are summarised by measurement category below:
Financial assets at amortised cost:
– Money market securities 5 000 267 054
– Capital market securities 1 300 000 1 474 000
– Accrued interest 326 362 239 641
Financial assets at fair value
– Equity intrinsic value 6 362 –

Total investment 1 637 724 1 980 695

Current 5 213 275 631
Non-current 1 632 511 1 705 064

1 637 724 1 980 695

Maturity profile:
Money market securities are in the form of fixed deposits with maturity dates 
greater than three months but no more than 12 months. Funds are invested at fixed 
interest rates which vary per institution. The capital market securities comprise 
investments that are more than 12 months. The weighted average yield to maturity 
is 8.40% (2017: 8.15%).

10. Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables from exchange transactions
Accrued income 7 443 22 665

– Interest receivable on current and call accounts 216 379
– Interest receivable on short-term investments 7 227 22 286

Claims from beneficiaries – 52

– Gross amount claimed 8 536 9 819
– Provision for doubtful claim recovery from beneficiaries (8 536) (9 767)

Total 7 443 22 717

Current 7 443 22 717
Non-current – –

7 443 22 717

11. Trade and other receivables from non-exchange transactions:
Accrued income
– Interest receivable from Participant’s Trust 9 125 4 355
– Expired and unclaimed prizes – Participant’s Trust 22 945 72 994
– Accounts receivable: NLC 100 732 94 169
– Share of ticket sales 24 745 28 056

Total 157 549 199 574

Current 157 549 199 574
Non-current – –

157 549 199 574

12. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash at bank – current account 38 180 53 017
Cash at bank – call account 458 6 000
Fixed deposits with maturity dates less than three months 163 085 478 016

Total per statement of financial position 201 723 537 033

None of the cash balances are pledged or secured.
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Year ended 
31 March 2018

 R’000

Year ended 
31 March 2017

 Restated
 R’000

13. Provision for allocation by Distributing Agencies
Opening balance 1 259 822 2 070 358
Additional provision made during the period (including increases  
to existing provisions) 1 506 013 1 524 187
Payments made during the period (2 073 514) (1 973 031)
Remeasurement of the estimated future outflow of economic benefits – 22 727
Revocations (111 953) (384 418)

Closing balance 580 368 1 259 822

Current 580 368 1 245 162
Non-current – 14 660

580 368 1 259 822

Cash disbursed refers not only to payments against current year allocations but 
also to payments relating to commitments owing from previous financial years. 
Payments against prior year commitments are in accordance with the duly signed 
grant agreements.

14. Trade and other payables from non-exchange transactions
Unallocated funds 62 62 
Amount due to Ithuba – 429

62 490

15. Cash flow information
Cash generated by operations
Profit/(loss) per the statement of financial performance (55 697) 127 992
Adjusted for:
Non-cash items:
Provision for bad debts (1 231) (45 947)
Debtors written off 416 42 203
Write off of PV Equalisation – 22 727
Fair value adjustment – Investment (6 362) –
Loss from financial instruments – 42
Accrued income – (149 302)

(62 874) (2 284)

Working capital changes
– (Increase) in trade and other receivables (28 607) (42 646)
– Decrease in provision for allocation of Distribution Agency (679 454) (810 536)
– Increase in trade and other payables (429) 62

(771 364) (855 404)
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

for the year ended 31 March 2018

NATIONAL LOTTERY DISTRIBUTION TRUST FUND
Established in terms of Lotteries Act, No 57 of 1997, as amended

16. Management of financial risk

NLDTF’s management monitors and manages the financial risks relating to the operations of the entity through 
internal risk reports which analyse exposures by degree and magnitude of risks. These risks include market risk, 
credit risk and liquidity risk.

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in market prices and investment return.

Market risk that could impact on future cash flows and hence the value of a financial instrument arise from:

• Interest rate risk: The impact of changes in market interest rates.

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party by failing to 
discharge an obligation.

Liquidity risk is the risk that NLDTF will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities 
due to insufficient cash being available to meet commitments as and when they become due.

Financial risks are managed by NLDTF as follows:

• Through internal risk reports which analyse exposures by degree and magnitude of risks;

• Review by the internal auditors of compliance with policies and exposure limits on a continual basis and regularly 
reporting to the Audit Committee; and

• Monitoring forecast and accrual cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities.

To assist in the analysis of the financial risks that NLDTF is exposed to, the statement of financial position has been 
divided into the following categories:

• Financial assets and liabilities; and

• Non-financial assets and liabilities.

Total
R’000

Financial 
assets and

 liabilities
R’000

As at 31 March 2018
Financial assets at amortised cost:
Unlisted:
– Money market securities 5 213 5 213
– Capital market securities 1 626 149 1 626 149
– Trade and other receivables from exchange transactions 7 443 7 443
– Trade and other receivables from non-exchange transactions 157 549 157 549
Financial assets at fair value:
– Cash and cash equivalents 201 723 201 723
– Equity intrinsic value 6 362 6 362

Total assets 2 004 438 2 004 438

Financial liabilities at amortised cost:
Provision for allocation by Distributing Agencies 580 368 580 368 
Trade payables from non-exchange transactions 62 62

Total liabilities 580 429 580 429

As at 31 March 2017
Financial assets at amortised cost:
Unlisted:
– Money market securities 275 631 275 631
– Capital market securities 1 705 064 1 705 064
– Trade and other receivables from exchange transactions 22 717 22 717
– Trade and other receivables from non-exchange transactions 199 574 199 574
Financial assets at fair value:
Cash and cash equivalents 537 033 537 033

Total assets 2 740 018 2 740 018

Financial liabilities at amortised cost:
Provision for allocation by Distributing Agencies 1 259 822 1 259 822
Trade and other payables from non-exchange transactions 490 490

Total liabilities 1 260 312 1 260 312
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16.1 Financial assets and liabilities
The NLDTF is exposed to financial risk through the following financial assets and liabilities:

31 March 2018

R’000

31 March 2017
Restated

R’000

Financial assets at amortised cost:
Unlisted:
– Money market securities 5 213 275 631
– Capital market securities 1 626 149 1 705 064
– Trade and other receivables from exchange transactions 7 443 22 717
– Trade and other receivables from non-exchange transactions 157 549 199 574
Financial assets at fair value:
– Cash and cash equivalents 201 723 537 033
– Equity intrinsic value 6 362 –

Total financial assets 2 004 438 2 740 018

Financial liabilities at amortised cost:
Provision for allocation by Distributing Agencies 580 368 1 259 822

Total financial liabilities 580 368 1 259 822

16.1.1 Market risk
(a) Interest rate risk
Sensitivity to changes in interest rates is relevant to financial assets or financial liabilities bearing floating interest 
rates due to the risk that future cash flows will fluctuate. NLDTF invests its money market instruments at a fixed rate. 
There will be no impact on the future cash flows of the entity as a result of changes in interest rates except for cash 
balances in current and call accounts.

The table below details the specific interest rate risk that the NLDTF is exposed to:

Carrying
 amount

 R’000
Fixed 
R’000

Floating
 R’000

Non-
interest- 
bearing

 R’000

As at 31 March 2018
Financial assets at amortised cost:
Unlisted:
– Money market securities 5 213 5 213 – –
– Capital market securities 1 626 149 1 626 149 – –
– Trade and other receivables from exchange transactions 7 443 – – 7 443
–  Trade and other receivables from non-exchange transactions 157 549 – – 157 549
Financial assets at fair value:
Cash and cash equivalents 201 723 163 085 38 638 –

Total financial assets 1 998 076 1 794 446 38 638 164 992

Financial liabilities at amortised cost:
Provision for allocation by Distributing Agencies 580 368 – – 580 368

Total financial liabilities 580 368 – – 580 368

As at 31 March 2017
Financial assets at amortised cost:
Unlisted:
– Money market securities 275 631 275 631 – –
– Capital market securities 1 705 064 1 705 064 – –
– Trade and other receivables from exchange transactions 22 717 – – 22 717
–  Trade and other receivables from non-exchange transactions 199 574 – – 199 574
Financial assets at fair value:
Cash and cash equivalents 537 033 478 016 59 017 –

Total financial assets 2 740 018 2 458 711 59 017 222 290

Financial liabilities at amortised cost:
Provision for allocation by Distributing Agencies 1 259 822 – – 1 259 822

Total financial liabilities 1 259 822 – – 1 259 822
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

for the year ended 31 March 2018

NATIONAL LOTTERY DISTRIBUTION TRUST FUND
Established in terms of Lotteries Act, No 57 of 1997, as amended

16.1.2 Credit risk

Key areas where NLDTF is exposed to credit risk:

• Financial investments comprising money market instruments entered into to invest surplus funds; and

• Cash and cash equivalents.

Total
R’000

AAA
R’000

AA+
AA

AA-
R’000

A+
A

A-
R’000

BBB
BBB+
R’000

Not 
rated
R’000

As at March 2018
Financial assets at amortised 
cost:
Unlisted:
– Mon ey market securities 5 213 – – – 5 213 –
– Capital market securities 1 626 149 – – – 1 626 149 –
Financial assets at fair value:
– Cash and cash equivalents 201 723 – – – 201 723 –
– Equity intrinsic value 6 362 – – – 6 362 –

1 839 447 – – – 1 839 447 –

Credit risk relating to receivables

31 March 2018

R’000

31 March 2017 
Restated

R’000

National Lottery Participants Trust 32 071 40 683
Gidani Proprietary Limited – 36 665
Ithuba Holdings Proprietary Limited 24 745 28 056
Beneficiaries – 52

56 816 105 456

The ageing of the components of trade and other receivables was as follows:

Gross
31 March 2018

R’000

Impairment
31 March 2018

R’000

Gross
31 March 2017

R’000

Impairment
31 March 2017

R’000

Within a year 56 816 – 106 051 (646)
Later than one year 8 536 (8 536) 9 173 (9 121)

Total 65 352 (8 536) 115 224 (9 767)

The movement in the provision for impairment during the year was as follows:

31 March 2018
R’000

31 March 2017
R’000

Balance at the beginning of the year 9 767 55 713
Movement in provision (1 231) (45 947)

Balance at the end of the year 8 536 9 766
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16.1.3 Liquidity risk

The table below analyses the NLDTF’s non-derivative financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the 
remaining period at the reporting date to the contractual maturity date.

Total
R’000

Within 
a year
R’000

Greater 
than a year

R’000

As at March 2018
Provision for allocation by Distributing Agencies 580 368 580 368 –

Total 580 368 580 368 –

At 31 March 2017
Provision for allocation by Distributing Agencies 1 259 822 1 245 162 14 660

Total 1 259 822 1 245 162 14 660

17. Prior period error

During the current financial year errors were identified relating to the prior years. The nature of the errors are as follows:

Revenue from non-exchange transactions

 – During the current financial year Ithuba recovered an amount of R428 542.99 for share of ticket sales which was as a 
result of the operator overpaying the NLC in the 2016/17 financial year.

 – During the current financial year Ithuba paid an amount of R1 892 680.48 relating to week 96 ending 1 April 2017. 
The NLC accrued R1 681 959.06 in the 2016/17 financial year as per the agreed upon procedures report. An adjustment 
was made to share of ticket sales.

 – During the current financial year Ithuba paid an amount of R10 303 419.31 relating to share of ticket sales for 1 April 
2017. Only R10 276 018.76 was adjusted for in the 2016/17 financial year. An adjustment was made accordingly.

 – During the current financial year Gidani (the previous Lottery operator) submitted a reconciliation for Unclaimed Prizes. 
The reconciliation reflected an amount of R36 665 472.86 which was due to the NLDTF in the 2015/16 financial year. 
This amount is as a result of scratch card prizes which were unclaimed and expired as are 31 May 2015 which was not 
accounted for. Gidani paid the proceeds on 29 March 2018.

Other licence fees

 – During the 2015/16 financial year an amount of R11 735 799.95 was raised in error, however, there was no basis of the 
receivable.

Transfer to NLC

During the current financial year study loans from previous financial year should have been converted to study expenses and 
treated as such in the relevant financial periods. This amounted to R369 739 from the 2013/14 financial year to the 2016/17 
financial year. During the previous financial year an amount of R24 634 was errornously paid to an employee. The amount 
was recovered in the current year. This impacted on the transfer to NLC.

The financial statements have been retrospectively restated.

The impact of the errors are as follows:

2016/17 2015/16 2014/15
R’000 R’000 R’000

– Increase/(decrease) in fund revenue (245) 24 930 –
– Decrease/(increase) in transfer to NLC (75) (121) (149)

– (Decrease)/increase in statement of financial performance (320) 24 809 (149)

–  Increase in trade and other payables from non-exchange 
transactions (429) – –

–  Increase/(decrease) in trade and other receivables  
from non-exchange transactions 108 24 809 (149)

– Increase/(decrease) in net assets (320) 24 809 (149)
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

for the year ended 31 March 2018

NATIONAL LOTTERY DISTRIBUTION TRUST FUND
Established in terms of Lotteries Act, No 57 of 1997, as amended

18. Contingent liabilities

Contingent liabilities comprise grants allocated by the Distributing Agencies to beneficiaries on a conditional basis and the 
stipulated conditions have not been met as at year-end (herein the soft allocation). The accumulated funds as disclosed in 
the statement of financial position that would ordinarily be made available for allocation to good causes in the new financial 
year will be affected by the extent to which these conditional grants convert to firm commitments once the stipulated 
conditions are met. The claims against NLDTF relate to pending cases against beneficiaries to the organisation.

31 March 2018 31 March 2017
R’000 R’000

Conditional allocations by Distributing Agencies – 1 553
Claims against the NLDTF – –

Contingent liability at the end of the year – 1 553

19. Taxation

The National Lottery Distribution Trust Fund is exempt from income tax in terms of section 10(1)(cA) of the Income Tax Act, 1962.

20. Events after reporting period

During the month of June, the NLC reached a settlement agreement with an applicant who had taken a matter to court.

21. Ring-fenced projects

In an effort to meet the legislated 150 days turnaround time for adjudicating applications and finalising the 2015 call for 
application, a portion of the 2018/19 budget was ring-fenced to fund the applications that were received before year-end. 
To this effect an amount of R63 million was allocated from the 2018/19 budget.

22. Comparison of approved budget and final budget

The budget and the accounting bases are the same; both are on the accrual basis. The financial statements and 
the budget are prepared using a classification on the nature of expenses in the statement of financial performance. 
The approved budget covers the period from 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2018.

Approved 
budget

R’000

Final 
budget

R’000
Adjustments

R’000 Reason for adjustments

Fund revenue 1 584 469 1 584 469 – No adjustment to budget
Investment income 170 000 170 000 – No adjustment to budget
Revenue from Participant Trust 150 000 150 000 – No adjustment to budget
Other operating income 2 800 2 800 – No adjustment to budget
Allocation of grants 1 441 564 1 441 564 – No adjustment to budget
Transfers to NLC 463 349 463 349 – No adjustment to budget
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23. Related party transactions

The NLC is a regulator of the National Lottery. Ithuba Holdings Proprietary Limited is a private company that currently 
operates the National Lottery under licence from the Government. Ithuba commenced as the licence operator from 
1 June 2015 after the licence agreement with the previous operator (Gidani Proprietary Limited) came to an end on 
31 May 2015. The Operator pays monies into the NLDTF in terms of the licence agreement. These proceeds are destined 
for good causes as specified in the Lotteries Act and allocated to deserving applicants by Distributing Agencies appointed 
by the Minister of Trade and Industry (the DTI). The NLC manages the NLDTF and accounts for all running costs. The NLC 
withdraws the necessary funds required from the NLDTF, based on overall annual budget approved by the Minister of 
Trade and Industry.

Year ended 
31 March 2018

Year ended 
31 March 2017

R’000 R’000

23.1 Transactions between the NLDTF and other parties
23.1.1 Ithuba Holdings Proprietary Limited

Revenue from Ithuba Holdings Proprietary Limited 1 391 939 1 371 653
Add: Trade and other receivables from non-exchange (Opening) 28 056 20 876
Less: Trade and other receivables from non-exchange (Closing) (24 745) (28 056)

Proceeds from Ithuba Holdings Proprietary Limited 1 395 250 1 364 472

Trade payable from non-exchange transactions – Ithuba Holdings Proprietary Limited – 429

23.1.2 National Lottery Participant Trust (NLPT)
Proceeds from NLPT 205 209 66 948
Add: Trade and other receivables from non-exchange (Opening) 4 355 6 171
Less: Trade and other receivables from non-exchange (Closing) (32 071) (4 355)

Cash proceeds 177 493 68 764

23.1.3 Controlling entity
The NLC is a controlling entity of the NLDTF. The NLDTF is administered by the NLC
as stipulated in section 21 of the National Lotteries Act (as amended).

Transfers to NLC (Actual payments to NLC amounted to R433 million for the current 
year (2016/17: R376 million) 426 687 344 783
Receivables from non-exchange transactions – NLC 100 732 94 169

23.1.4 Gidani Proprietary Limited
Receivables from non-exchange transactions – 36 665
Proceeds from Gidani Proprietary Limited 36 665 –

36 665 36 665
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

for the year ended 31 March 2018

NATIONAL LOTTERY DISTRIBUTION TRUST FUND
Established in terms of Lotteries Act, No 57 of 1997, as amended

24. Provision for allocation by Distributing Agencies

It is the duty of the Distributing Agency Members to adjudicate applications for funding within their respective sectors. 
Members who have a conflict that may impact the ability to adjudicate impartially do not adjudicate on the projects, as 
they recuse themselves whilst these projects are being adjudicated. Listed below are balances and transactions with those 
organisations which were funded by the NLDTF and in which Distributing Agencies have significant interest.

Sector Name of beneficiary

Distributing 
agency 
member Nature of relationship

Amount 
granted 
2017/18

R’000

Payments 
2017/18

R’000

Revocations
2017/18

R’000

Amount 
owing

2017/18
R’000

Amount 
owing

2016/17
R’000

CDA National Association 
of people living with
HIV/AIDS

N Nxesi Former National 
Director and Secretary 
General of the 
organisation – 400 – – 400

ACENH
DA

Merakeng 
Foundation

W Reetsang Chairman of the 
foundation – 1 664 – 1 674 3 338

ACENH
DA

KZN Arts and 
Culture
Trust

G Ngcobo Served as CEO of the 
organisation

– – – 2 582 2 582

ACENH
DA

PANSALB M Zwane Chief Executive Officer
– – 10 000 – 10 000

ACENH
DA

Walter Sisulu 
University
African Heritage 
Archive

DN Jafta Committee member

– – – 2 960 2 960

ACENH
DA

The Jazz Foundation
(SA)

B Sisane The member is part 
of the Management 
Committee – 800 – – 800

SRDA Boland Athletics HJH Adams President of Boland 
Athletics – 2 519 – – 2 519

SRDA Athletics South 
Africa

Mr Skhosana
and Dr Adams

Mr Skhosana: 
President of ASA
Dr Adams: Deputy 
President 20 372 14 260 – 6 112 –

SRDA MAVU ME Ravele 
and A Hill

Ms ME Ravele and 
Ms A Hill 
(Chairperson of 
Assisted Organisation 
– South African
Women and Sports 
Foundation 15 925 18 458 – 4 000 6 533

SRDA Boxing South Africa Ms ME Ravele Chairperson of the 
organisation – – 2 999 – 2 999

SRDA Athletics North West Mr Skhosana
and Dr Adams

Mr Skhosana: 
President of ASA 
Dr Adams: Deputy 
President 1 908 – 1 526 382 –

SRDA Athletics Gauteng 
North

Mr Skhosana
and Dr Adams

Mr Skhosana: 
President of ASA
Dr Adams: Deputy 
President 1 010 800 – 210 –

SRDA Athletics Vaal 
Triangle

Mr Skhosana
and Dr Adams

Mr Skhosana: 
President of ASA
Dr Adams: Deputy 
President 1 670 1 300 – 370 –

SRDA Athletics North West Mr Skhosana
and Dr Adams

Mr Skhosana: 
President of ASA
Dr Adams: Deputy 
President 1 908 – 1 526 382 –
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In the instances below members have relatively significant interest even though the interest did not amount to significant control. 
These have been disclosed for prudence.

Sector Name of beneficiary

Distributing 
agency
member Nature of relationship

Amount 
granted
2017/18

R’000

Payments 
2017/18

R’000

Revocations
2017/18

R’000

Amount 
owing

2017/18
R’000

Amount 
owing

2016/17
R’000

SRDA University of the
Western Cape

A Travil Lecturer at UWC
– 190 – – 190

SRDA Tshwane University 
of Technology

M Ravele Part time lecture 
at TUT – – 633 – 633

CDA Child Welfare 
Tshwane

Ms I Smith Worked with the 
Chairperson
from 2011 – 2014 1 327 – – 1 327 –

ACENH
DA

University of Limpopo N Maake Former employee
– – – 400 400

ACENH 
DA

University of 
Witwatersrand

N Maake Honorary pres-lessons 
in the school 
of languages and
literature of Wits – – – 200 200

ACENH 
DA

Village Tourism Trust PC Ngove The organisation 
is mothering the 
organisation that he/
she is a trustee – 380 – – 380

SRDA Grass Roots Soccer Ms A Hill Former CEO of Special 
Olympics that is 
working with Grass 
Roots Soccer 
SA on the project 3 407 – – 3 407
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NATIONAL LOTTERIES PARTICIPANTS TRUST
(Registration number IT001513/2015(T))
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2018

Registered Name National Lotteries Commission

Registered Address Block D, Hatfield Gardens
333 Grosvenor Street Hatfield
Pretoria, 0083
South Africa

Postal Address PO Box 1556
Brooklyn Square
Pretoria
0075

Contact Telephone Numbers Switchboard +27 12 432 1300
Fax +27 12 432 1387
Info Centre 0860 065 383

E-mail Address info@nlcsa.org.za

Website Address www.nlcsa.org.za

External Auditors Auditor General SA

Bankers Information ABSA
First National Bank
Nedbank
Rand Merchant Bank
Standard Bank

Company Secretary Ms Nompumelelo Nene

General Information
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NATIONAL LOTTERIES PARTICIPANTS TRUST
(Registration number IT001513/2015(T))
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2018

Governance Framework of the National Lottery 
Participants Trust (NLPT)
The National Lotteries Participants Trust is established in terms of the Trust Property Control Act 57 of 1998. The NLPT was 
founded by Ithuba Holdings (RF) (Pty) Ltd. in accordance with the third Licence to Operate the National Lottery. The licence is 
a regulatory instrument provided for, under the Lotteries Act, to enable the NLC to fulfil its regulatory mandate of monitoring 
Ithuba’s operations and Ithuba’s obligations to procure a Trust for the purposes of protecting, amongst others, prize monies 
payable to National Lottery participants who have 365 days to claim their prizes. The duty of procuring the Trust is a key element 
of the regulatory function of the NLC as set out in section 10(1)(j) of the Lotteries Act.

The NLC Board, in its capacity as Regulator, exercises oversight in accordance with provisions of the Lotteries Act, licence and 
principles contained in the King IV Code. The NLPT complied with all reporting requirements through the submission of quarterly 
reports, management accounts, income and expenditure statements, annual financial statements within the stipulated periods as 
indicated by the Board of the NLC.

APPOINTMENT OF TRUSTEES

The Board of Trustees comprises of two nominee Trustees, who are representatives of the NLC and Ithuba respectively, and 
three independent Trustees. The NLC, with consent from Ithuba, appoints a maximum of three independent Trustees. Trustees 
hold office for a period of three years and are eligible for re-appointment at the expiry of the three-year period.

INDEPENDENCE

All independent and nominee trustees are deemed to be independent, having adhered to King IV code principles of 
independence and criteria for connected persons as defined in the Income Tax Act. Majority of the Trustees are independent as 
they have no material interest in the NLC, interest in national lottery operator, beneficiaries or suppliers. Trustees of the NLPT have 
fiduciary duties to the Trust and its beneficiaries. The primary beneficiaries of the NLPT are participants in the lottery who are 
secured of their prize money as well as the NLDTF as a secondary beneficiary of interest on the funds that are paid to the NLPT 
as well as unclaimed and expired prize money.

Trustees are required to complete an annual disclosure of interest and are required to disclose interest at every meeting to ensure 
that circumstances that may give rise to conflict of interest are managed and monitored effectively. There were no conflicts of 
interest identified during the reporting period.

TRUST ADMINISTRATOR

The Trust administrator is appointed to service the Trust for the duration of the third Licence to Operate the National Lottery. The 
Trust administrator is accountable to the NLPT Board of Trustees for the performance of all financial, administrative, secretariat 
and clerical functions, as well as any duties which may be delegated by the Board of Trustees.

MEMBERS AND ATTENDANCE

The Board of Trustees comprises of five members, including the chair, Adv. Nevondwe. The Deed of Trust makes provision for a 
minimum of four meetings per year. During the financial year ended 31 March 2018, the Board of Trustees met on four occasions.

The table below shows the attendance of these meetings.

Committee 
Member Role Qualifications

Date of 
Appointment 

Quarterly 
Meetings

 Special 
Meetings 

and 
Workshops

Adv. LT Nevondwe Chairperson LLB (University of Venda)
LLM (University of Venda)
LLD (University of Limpopo)

1 April 2016  3/4  1/1

Mr PR Letwaba, 
CA(SA)

Member – NLC 
Representative

BCom Accounting
CTA

28 May 2015  3/4  1/1

Adv BE Mabuza Member – Ithuba 
Representative

BProc (NWU)
LLB (Wits)
LLB (Georgetown University)

22 July 2015  4/4  1/1

Ms MT Ramuedzisi 
CA(SA)

Member BBusSc (UCT)
HDipAcc (Wits)
MCom (Computer Auditing) (UJ)
RA

1 April 2016  4/4  1/1

Mr A Mahlalutye Member BSc Quantity Surveying (UCT)
Master’s in Business Leadership 
(UNISA)
Master’s in Financial Management 
(University of London)

1 February 2018  0/4  0/1

Adv WE Huma** Former Member 1 April 2016  3/4 0/3

** Resigned in the period under review
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Special Board meeting and workshops include

• Special Meeting (AFS Approval, National Lottery Participant Trust Workshop)

The NLPT Chairperson appeared before the NLC Board Audit and Risk Committee to report on the performance and financial 
information and other relevant matters concerning the Trust.

On behalf of the NLPT Board of Trustees

Adv Nevondwe
NLPT Board of Trustees Chairperson on 20 September 2018
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NATIONAL LOTTERIES PARTICIPANTS TRUST
(Registration number IT001513/2015(T))
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2018

Independent auditors’ report to the board of 
trustees
TO THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF NATIONAL LOTTERIES PARTICIPANTS TRUST

OPINION

We have audited the Financial Statements of National Lotteries Participants Trust set out on pages 196 to 205, which comprise 
the Statement of Financial Position as at 31 March 2018, and the Statement of comprehensive income and, Statement of 
Changes in Equity and Statement of Cash Flows for the year then ended, and notes to the Financial Statements, including a 
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the Financial Statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of National Lotteries 
Participants Trust as at 31 March 2018, and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Our responsibilities under those standards 
are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are 
independent of the Trust in accordance with the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors Code of Professional Conduct for 
Registered Auditors (IRBA Code) and other independence requirements applicable to performing audits of financial statements 
in South Africa. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IRBA Code and in accordance with 
other ethical requirements applicable to performing audits in South Africa. The IRBA Code is consistent with the International 
Ethics Standards Board for Accountants Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (Parts A and B). We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

OTHER INFORMATION

The Trustee are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Trustees’ report as required by 
the Companies Act of South Africa, which we obtained prior to the date of this report. Other information does not include the 
Financial Statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the Financial Statements does not cover the other information and we do not express an audit opinion or any form 
of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the Financial Statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, 
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the Financial Statements or our knowledge obtained in the 
audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work have performed, we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE MEMBERS FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Trustees are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the Financial Statements in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as the members determine is necessary to enable the preparation of 
Financial Statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the Financial Statements, the members are responsible for assessing the Trust’s ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going-concern basis of accounting unless the 
trustees either intend to liquidate the Trust or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Financial Statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is 
a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with International Standards on Auditing 
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material 
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of these Financial Statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing, we exercise professional judgement and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the Financial Statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and 
perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting 
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal 
control.
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• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in 
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the close corporation’s internal 
control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by the members.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the members’ use of the going-concern basis of accounting and based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the 
close corporation’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required 
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the Financial Statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s 
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the close corporation to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the Financial Statements, including the disclosures, and whether 
the Financial Statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the Trustees regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant 
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

KwinanaEquifin Incorporated  Lynnwood Pretoria
Yakhe Kwinana
Practice Number
Director
Chartered Accountants (S.A.)
Registered Auditor
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NATIONAL LOTTERIES PARTICIPANTS TRUST
(Registration number IT001513/2015(T))
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2018

Trustees’ responsibilities and approval

The trustees are required to maintain adequate accounting records and are responsible for the content and integrity of the annual 
financial statements and related financial information included in this report. It is their responsibility to ensure that the annual 
financial statements fairly present the state of affairs of the trust as at the end of the financial year and the results of its operations 
and cash flows for the period then ended, in conformity with the International Financial Reporting Standard for Small and 
Medium-sized Entities. The external auditor is engaged to express an independent opinion on the annual financial statements.

The annual financial statements are prepared in accordance with the International Reporting Standards and based upon 
appropriate accounting policies consistently applied and supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates.

The trustees acknowledge that they are ultimately responsible for the system of internal financial control established by the 
trust and place considerable importance on maintaining a strong control environment. To enable the trustees to meet these 
responsibilities, the trustees set standards for internal control aimed at reducing the risk of error or loss in a cost-effective 
manner. The standards include the proper delegation of responsibilities within a clearly defined framework, effective accounting 
procedures and adequate segregation of duties to ensure an acceptable level of risk. These controls are monitored throughout 
the trust and all trustees and administrators are required to maintain the highest ethical standards in ensuring the trust’s business 
is conducted in a manner that in all reasonable circumstances is above reproach. The focus of risk management in the trust 
is on identifying, assessing, managing and monitoring all known forms of risk across the trust. While operating risk cannot be 
fully eliminated, the trustees endeavour to minimise it by ensuring that appropriate infrastructure, controls, systems and ethical 
behaviour are applied and managed within predetermined procedures and constraints.

The trustees are of the opinion, based on the information and explanations given by administrators, that the system of internal 
control provides reasonable assurance that the financial records may be relied on for the preparation of the annual financial 
statements. However, any system of internal financial control can provide only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance against 
material misstatement or loss.

The annual financial statements set out on pages 195 to 205, which have been prepared on the going-concern basis, were 
approved by the board on 20 September 2018 and were signed on its behalf by:

Phillemon Rasemate Letwaba Lufuno Tokyo Nevondwe: 
Representing: National Lotteries Commission Chairperson

20 September 2018 20 September 2018
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Practitioner’s compilation report

To the trustees of National Lotteries Participants Trust

We have compiled the annual financial statements of the National Lotteries Participants Trust, a trust under the administration 
of Nedgroup Trust Proprietary Limited, as set out on pages 8 to 19, based on the information you have provided. These annual 
financial statements comprise the Statement of Financial Position of the National Lotteries Participants Trust as at 31 March 2018, 
the related statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then 
ended.

These annual financial statements and the accuracy and completeness of the information used to compile them are your 
responsibility.

Since a compilation engagement is not an assurance engagement, we are not required to verify the accuracy or completeness of 
the information you provided to us to compile these annual financial statements.

Preparer’s name
Nedgroup Trust (Pty) Ltd

17 May 2018
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NATIONAL LOTTERIES PARTICIPANTS TRUST
(Registration number IT001513/2015(T))
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2018

Trustees’ report

The trustees have pleasure in submitting their report on the annual financial statements of the National Lotteries Participants Trust 
for the year ended 31 March 2018.

1. INCORPORATION OF THE TRUST

The trust was incorporated on 29 May 2015.

2. NATURE OF BUSINESS

The trust is constituted for the benefit of the beneficiaries subject to the terms and conditions of the trust deed. To hold 
and safeguard all monies received for the benefit of the beneficiaries. The beneficiaries are the winners, the licencee Ithuba 
Holdings (RF) Proprietary Limited and the National Lotteries Distribution Trust Fund.

3. TRUST CAPITAL

Ithuba Holdings (RF) Proprietary Limited made an initial donation of R1 000.00 on 6 October 2015.

4. TRUSTEES

The trustees in office at the date of this report are as follows:

Trustees
Lufuno Tokyo Nevondwe:
Chairperson
Phillemon Rasemate Letwaba
Representing: National Lotteries
Commission
Boy Erick Mabuza:
Representing Ithuba Holdings (RF)
Proprietary Limited
Mandisa Tumeka Ramuedzisi
Andile Mahlalutye, Appointed 1 February 2018

5. RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The operating results and state of affairs of the Trust are fully set out in the attached annual financial statements and do not, 
in our opinion, require any further comment.

6. GOING CONCERN

The trustees believe that the trust has adequate financial resources to continue in operation for the foreseeable future and 
accordingly the annual financial statements have been prepared on a going-concern basis. The trustees have satisfied 
themselves that the trust is in a sound financial position. The trustees are not aware of any material changes that may 
adversely impact the trust. The trustees are also not aware of any material non-compliance with statutory or regulatory 
requirements or of any pending changes to legislation which may affect the trust.
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Figures in Rand  Notes 2018 2017

ASSETS
Current assets
Trade and other receivables 2 1 595 280 1 996 471
Cash and cash equivalents 3 323 718 385 366 712 265

325 313 665 368 708 736

Total assets 325 313 665 368 708 736

Equity and liabilities
Equity
Trust capital 4 1 000 1 000

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 5 325 312 665 368 707 736

Total equity and liabilities 325 313 665 368 708 736

Statement of financial position
as at 31 March 2018
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NATIONAL LOTTERIES PARTICIPANTS TRUST
(Registration number IT001513/2015(T))
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2018

Statement of comprehensive income
for the year ended 31 March 2018

Figures in Rand Notes 2018 2017

Revenue
Interest received 6 4 180 764 4 040 721

Expenditure
Administration fees (2 981 123) (2 831 760)
Audit fees  (756 045) (707 048)
Bank charges (20 256) (16 261)
Consultancy fees  – (99 066)
Trustee fees  (423 340) (386 586)

(4 180 764) (4 040 721)

Net profit  – –
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Statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 31 March 2018

Figures in Rand  Trust capital Total equity

Balance at 1 April 2016 1 000 1 000

Balance at 1 April 2017 1 000 1 000

Balance at 31 March 2018 1 000 1 000
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NATIONAL LOTTERIES PARTICIPANTS TRUST
(Registration number IT001513/2015(T))
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2018

Statement of cash flows
for the year ended 31 March 2018

Figures in Rand Notes 2018 2017

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash (used in) generated from operations  7  (47 174 644) 108 217 424
Interest income 4 180 764 4 040 721

Net cash from operating activities (42 993 880) 112 258 145

Total cash movement for the year (42 993 880) 112 258 145
Cash at the beginning of the year 366 712 265 254 454 120

Total cash at end of the year 3 323 718 385  366 712 265
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Accounting policies
for the year ended 31 March 2018

1. PRESENTATION OF ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standard for 
Small and Medium-sized Entities. The annual financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, and 
incorporate the principal accounting policies set out below. They are presented in South African Rands.

These accounting policies are consistent with the previous period.

1.1 Financial instruments

Initial measurement

Financial instruments are initially measured at the transaction price. This includes transactions costs, except for financial 
instruments which are measured at fair value through profit and loss.

Financial instruments at amortised cost 

Debt instruments, as defined in the standard, are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method. Debt instruments which are classified as current assets or current liabilities are measured at the undiscounted 
amount of the cash expected to be received or paid, unless the arrangement effectively constitutes a financing transaction.

At the end of each reporting date, the carrying amount of assets held in this category is reviewed to determine whether there 
is any objective evidence of impairment. If so, an impairment loss is recognised.

Financial instruments at cost

Commitments to receive a loan are measured at cost less impairment.

Equity instruments that are not publicly traded and whose fair value cannot otherwise be measured reliably are measured at 
cost less impairment. This includes equity instruments held in unlisted investments.

Financial instruments at fair value

All other financial instruments are measured at fair value through profit and loss.

1.2 Tax

Current tax assets and liabilities

Current tax for current and prior periods is, to the extent unpaid, recognised as a liability. If the amount already paid in respect 
of current and prior periods exceeds the amount due for those periods, the excess is recognised as an asset.

Current liabilities (assets) for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be paid to (recovered 
from) the tax authorities, using the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting 
date.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities

A deferred tax liability is recognised for all taxable temporary differences.

A deferred tax asset is recognised for all deductible temporary differences and for the carry forward of unused tax losses and 
unused tax credits.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is 
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted by the reporting date.

Tax expenses

Tax expense is recognised in the same component of total comprehensive income (i.e. continuing operations, discontinued 
operations, or other comprehensive income) or equity as the transaction or other event that resulted in the tax expense.

1.3 Revenue

Interest is recognised, in profit or loss, using the effective interest rate method.

1.4 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to 
an insignificant risk of changes in value. These are initially and subsequently recorded at fair value.
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NATIONAL LOTTERIES PARTICIPANTS TRUST
(Registration number IT001513/2015(T))
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2018

1.5 Expired tickets

Expired funds comprise of winning tickets that have exceeded the 365 days limit period for claims to be made. The expired 
amounts are recognised as revenue in the period that the maximum claim period lapses. Unutilised expired funds are 
reflected as a liability in the statement of financial position.

1.6 Expenditure

Expenditure comprise of management fees, trustee fees, bank charges, consulting fees, audit fees and others costs incurred 
in running the trust. All expenditure is charged against statement of comprehensive income in the period it was incurred.

1.7 Related parties

Key management is defined as individuals with the authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the 
activities of the National Lotteries Participants Trust. All trustees are regarded as key management per the definition of 
International Financial Reporting Standard for Small and Medium-sized Entities.

Close family members of key management personnel are considered to be those family members who may be expected to 
influence, or be influenced by, key management individuals in their dealings with the National Lotteries Participants Trust.

An entity is related to the trust if members of the entity’s key management have significant influence in the trust.

Other related party transactions are also disclosed in terms of the requirements of International Financial Reporting Standard 
for Small and Medium-sized Entities. Qualitative and quantitative materiality is considered in the disclosure of these 
transactions.

Accounting policies (continued)

for the year ended 31 March 2018
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Notes to the annual financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2018

Figures in Rand 2018  2017

2. Trade and other receivables
Interest accrued 1 595 280 1 996 471

3. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents consisted of the undermentioned bank accounts and 
should be:
Nedbank Private Wealth Proprietary Limited – Advanced and online play account 10 000 000 –
Nedbank Private Wealth Proprietary Limited – Expired account 45 358 017 200 551 582
Nedbank Private Wealth Proprietary Limited – Interest account 7 530 751 2 701 088
Nedbank Private Wealth Proprietary Limited – Prize money account 260 829 617 163 459 595

323 718 385 366 712 265

Actual bank balances are as follows:
Nedbank Private Wealth Proprietary Limited – Advanced and online play account 10 000 000 –
Nedbank Private Wealth Proprietary Limited – Expired account 14 705 294 106 756 474
Nedbank Private Wealth Proprietary Limited – Interest account 7 530 751 2 700 395
Nedbank Private Wealth Proprietary Limited – Prize money account 291 482 340 257 255 396

323 718 385 366 712 265

Transfers which should have occured as at end of period:
Nedbank Private Wealth Proprietary Limited – Expired account 30 652 723 (93 795 108)
Nedbank Private Wealth Proprietary Limited – Interest account – (693)
Nedbank Private Wealth Proprietary Limited – Prize money account (30 652 723)  93 795 801

– –

4. Trust capital
Initial donation : Ithuba Holdings (RF) Proprietary Limited 1 000 1 000

5. Trade and other payables
Administration fees 806 003 –
Audit fees 756 045 707 048
Advanced Sales due to Ithuba Holdings (RF) Proprietary Limited 1 739 577 –
Advanced Sales due to Winners 8 260 423 –
National Lotteries Distribution Trust Fund Payments 30 407 741 88 232 700
Unclaimed Funds – Ithuba Holdings (RF) Proprietary Limited 1 568 386 892 409
Unclaimed Prizes – Ithuba Holdings (RF) Proprietary Limited 281 673 822 278 775 579
Trustee fees 100 668 100 000

325 312 665 368 707 736

6. Interest income
Interest revenue
Nedbank Private Wealth Proprietary Limited – Interest account 4 180 764 4 040 721

4 180 764 4 040 721

Interest income comprises interest earned on favourable balances held with bank. 
The interest earned is utilised to defray expenditure incurred by the trust to facilitate its 
operations and the remaining interest then vests in the National Lotteries
Distribution Trust Fund.

7. Cash (used in) generated from operations
Adjustments for
Interest received (4 180 764) (4 040 721)
Cash generated from operations
Change in trade and other receivables 401 191 33 409 909
Change in trade and other payables (43 395 071) 78 848 236

(47 174 644) 108 217 424
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NATIONAL LOTTERIES PARTICIPANTS TRUST
(Registration number IT001513/2015(T))
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2018

Figures in Rand 2018  2017

8. Related parties
Relationships
Trustees Ithuba Holdings (RF) Proprietary Limited
 National Lotteries Commission
Beneficiaries National Lotteries Distribution Trust Fund
 Winners
Related party balances
Balances owing to related parties
Unclaimed Funds – Ithuba Holdings (RF) Proprietary Limited 1 568 386 892 409
National Lotteries Distribution Trust Fund 30 407 741 88 232 700
Winners 281 673 823 278 775 579
Trustees Fees 100 668 100 000

9. Financial risk management
9.1 Interest rate risk

The exposure to changes in interest rates relates primarily to the National Lotteries Participants Trust’s prize money 
account, expired account, interest account and advance and online play account.
Sensitivity analysis
Below are the recalculated financial assets and liabilities showing the effect of a 100 basis point increase or decrease in the 
prize money account, expired account and interest account. This analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant.

Current
 balance

+1% 
(100 basis

 points)

-1% 
(100 basis

 points)

2018
Cash and cash equivalents 323 718 385 204 721 (204 721)

2017
Cash and cash equivalents 366 712 265 4 127 407 (4 127 407)

9.2 Credit risk
Credit risk arises from trade and other receivables and cash and cash equivalents. The trust has no significant 
concentration of credit risk. A breakdown of the ageing and concentration of credit risk that arises from the National 
Lotteries Participants Trust is:

Total 
Full 

performing 
Past due-

 not impaired Impaired

2018
Other receivables1 1 595 280 1 595 280 –  –

1 595 280 1 595 280 – –

2017
Other receivables1 1 996 471 1 996 471 – –

1 996 471 1 996 471  – –

1. Other receivables refers to the accrued interest.

Notes to the annual financial statements (continued)

for the year ended 31 March 2018
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9. Financial risk management (continued)
9.3 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the National Lotteries Participants Trust will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they 
fall due. The National Lotteries Participants Trust has adequate cash balances at its disposal and no long-term debt which 
reduce the liquidity risk. Nevertheless the National Lotteries Participants Trust ensures that the liquidity risk is monitored 
and controlled.
Maturity profile of financial instruments

1 year or less 1 to 5 years  Total

2018
Cash and cash equivalents 323 718 385 – 323 718 385
Trade and other receivables 1 595 280 – 1 595 280

325 313 655  – 325 313 665

Liabilities
Trade and other payables 325 313 665 –  323 313 665

325 313 665  – 323 313 665

2017
Cash and cash equivalents 366 712 265  – 366 712 265
Trade and other receivables 1 996 471  – 1 996 471

368 708 736  – 368 708 736

Liabilities
Trade and other payables  368 708 736  – 368 708 736

368 708 736  – 368 708 736

9.4 Financial instruments per category
Financial assets per category
The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below:

Trade and 
other

 receivables

Cash and
 cash

 equivalents

2018
Loan and receivables 1 595 280  –
Fair value through profit and loss – designated – 323 718 385

1 595 280 323 718 385

2017
Loan and receivables 1 996 471  –
Fair value through profit and loss – designated – 366 712 265

1 996 471 366 712 265

Financial liabilities per category
Trade and

 other payables

2018
Financial liabilities at amortised cost 325 312 665

325 312 665

2017
Financial liabilities at amortised cost 368 707 736

368 707 736
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NATIONAL LOTTERIES PARTICIPANTS TRUST
(Registration number IT001513/2015(T))
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2018

10. Fair value of financial instruments
Carrying 

Value
Fair 

Value

2018
Cash and cash equivalents  323 718 385 323 718 385
Trade and other receivables 1 595 280 1 595 280

325 313 665 325 313 665

2017
Cash and cash equivalents 366 712 265 366 712 265
Trade and other receivables 1 996 471  1 996 471

368 708 736 368 708 736

11. Events after reporting period
The trustees are not aware of any significant events that occurred after the reporting date that would require adjustments 
to or disclosure in the financial statements.

Notes to the annual financial statements (continued)
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Country of incorporation and domicile South Africa

Nature of business 
To hold and safeguard all monies received by the Trust for the benefit of the 
beneficiaries.

Type of trust Inter Vivos

Trustees Lufuno Tokyo Nevondwe:
Chairperson
Phillemon Rasemate Letwaba
Representing: National Lotteries
Commission
Boy Erick Mabuza:
Representing Ithuba Holdings (RF)
(Pty) Ltd
Mandisa Tumeka Ramuedzisi
Andile Mahlalutye
(Appointed 1 February 2018)

Registered office of Administrator V&A Waterfront
Nedbank Clocktower
Cape Town
8001

Postal address of Administrator V&A Waterfront
Nedbank Clocktower
Cape Town
8001

Bankers Nedbank Private Wealth (Pty) Ltd

Auditor Kwinana and Associates Incorporated
Chartered Accountants (S.A.)
Registered Auditor

Trust registration number IT001513/2015(T)

Tax reference number 2332466172

Preparer of AFS Nedgroup Trust (Pty) Ltd

General information
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